

Mini review



COMPUTATIONAL ANDSTRUCTURAL BIOTECHNOLOGY

JOURNAL



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/csbj

The NPR/Hal family of protein kinases in yeasts: biological role, phylogeny and regulation under environmental challenges



Miguel Antunes^{a,b,c}, Isabel Sá-Correia^{a,b,c,*}

^a iBB-Institute for Bioengineering and Biosciences, Instituto Superior Técnico, Universidade de Lisboa, 1049-001 Lisbon, Portugal ^b Department of Bioengineering, Instituto Superior Técnico, Universidade de Lisboa, 1049-001 Lisbon, Portugal

^c Associate Laboratory i4HB-Institute for Health and Bioeconomy at Instituto Superior Técnico, Universidade de Lisboa, Av. Rovisco Pais, 1049-001 Lisbon, Portugal

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 26 August 2022 Received in revised form 30 September 2022 Accepted 2 October 2022 Available online 15 October 2022

Keywords: Protein kinases Yeasts NPR/Hal family Post-translational modification Signal transduction pathways Response to environmental challenges

ABSTRACT

Protein phosphorylation is the most common and versatile post-translational modification occurring in eukaryotes. In yeast, protein phosphorylation is fundamental for maintaining cell growth and adapting to sudden changes in environmental conditions by regulating cellular processes and activating signal transduction pathways. Protein kinases catalyze the reversible addition of phosphate groups to target proteins, thereby regulating their activity. In *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, kinases are classified into six major groups based on structural and functional similarities. The NPR/Hal family of kinases comprises nine fungal-specific kinases that, due to lack of similarity with the remaining kinases, were classified to the "Other" group. These kinases are primarily implicated in regulating fundamental cellular processes such as maintaining ion homeostasis and controlling nutrient transporters' concentration at the plasma membrane. Despite their biological relevance, these kinases remain poorly characterized and explored. This review provides an overview of the information available regarding each of the kinases from the NPR/Hal family, including their known biological functions, mechanisms of regulation, and integration in signaling pathways in *S. cerevisiae*. Information gathered for non-*Saccharomyces* species of biotechnological or clinical relevance is also included.

© 2022 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	5699
2.	The NPR/Hal family of kinases	5699
	2.1. NPR1 (YNL183C) plays a pleiotropic role in the regulation of nutrient transporters	5699
	2.2. PRR2 (YDL214C), an inhibitor of the pheromone-response pathway	5703
	2.3. PTK1 (YKL198C) and PTK2 (YJR059W) are regulators of polyamine uptake	5704
	2.4. HRK1 (YOR267C), a determinant of tolerance to short-chain weak acids-induced stress	5705
	2.5. HAL5 (YJL165C) and HAL4 (YCR008W) stabilize several cation and nutrient plasma membrane transporters	5706
	2.6. RTK1 (YDL025C) and KKQ8 (YKL168C) remain largely uncharacterized.	5707
3.	Concluding remarks	5707
(CRediT authorship contribution statement	5708
	Declaration of Competing Interest	5708
	Acknowledgments	5708
	References	5709

* Corresponding author at: iBB-Institute for Bioengineering and Biosciences, Instituto Superior Técnico, Universidade de Lisboa, 1049-001 Lisbon, Portugal. *E-mail address:* isacorreia@tecnico.ulisboa.pt (I. Sá-Correia).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2022.10.006

2001-0370/© 2022 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

1. Introduction

Phosphorylation of proteins is one of the most well-studied post-translational modifications (PTMs), indispensable for the regulation of several cellular processes and response to stimuli in eukaryotes [1,2]. Protein kinases and phosphatases control the phosphorylation state of a protein; thus, a protein controlled by its phosphorylation state will have its activity dependent on the activity of the regulating kinases and phosphatases [3]. Protein kinases predictably phosphorylate about one-third of all the proteins in humans, flies and yeasts [4]. In eukaryotic cells, kinases catalyze the transfer of the terminal phosphate of ATP to serine, threonine or tyrosin aminoacyl residues, which protein phosphatases can reverse. The specific recognition of substrates by kinases is made through their active site [5]. Some kinases are highly specific - only modulate the phosphorylation of a few select substrates - while others may have a broad spectrum of protein targets. Protein phosphorylation/dephosphorylation is an extremely efficient and dynamic mechanism of control in protein activity and signaling pathways due to its rapid and reversible nature that does not require synthesis or degradation of proteins [5,6]. This regulatory mechanism allows alterations in protein stability, location, and activity, including modifications in catalytic function. often through structural rearrangements that can induce alterations in interacting partners or subcellular localization [5]. The analysis of the regulation of cellular processes by phosphorylation is complex. It includes the identification of the phosphoproteins and respective phosphorylation sites, which is not straightforward; the identification of the effects phosphorylation has on biological processes, the protein kinases and phosphatases involved in phosphorylation regulation, and the environmental conditions and mechanisms leading to the activation of the involved kinases and phosphatases [7,8]. The currently proposed kinase classification systems are based on sequence conservation, phylogeny analysis of the catalytic domains, presence of accessory domains, and similarity in their modes of regulation [9–11]. The classification of the eukaryotic protein kinase superfamily comprises nine groups of "conventional" protein kinases (ePKs) and four groups of "atypical" protein kinases (aPKs), which are proteins with kinase activity but do not share clear sequence similarity with ePKs [9]. In the budding yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae, kinases are classified into six ePKs groups: the AGC group; the CAMK group (calmodulinregulated kinases); the CKI group (casein kinases); the GMGC group (cyclin-dependent kinases, mitogen-activated protein kinases, glycogen synthase kinases and CDK-like kinases); the STE group (including protein kinases involved in MAP kinase cascades); and the Other kinases group (kinases that could not be easily classified into one of the other groups due to lack of similarity) [9,12]. The atypical kinases in S. cerevisiae include the PIKK group (phosphatidyl inositol 3' kinase-related kinases); the PDHK group (pyruvate dehydrogenase kinases); and the RIO group (named after "right open reading frame") [9,12]. Originally considered as part of the "Other" kinases group, the NPR/Hal family includes nine fungal-specific kinases primarily associated with the regulation of plasma membrane transporters: Hal4 (Sat4), Hal5, Hrk1, Kkq8, Npr1, Prr2, Ptk1, Ptk2, and Rtk1 [12]. More recently, these kinases have been assigned as part of the CAMK group - based on the automatic classification of syntenic homologues from Ashbya gossypii and S. cerevisiae [9] – or even classified as "Snf1-related" - based on a re-analysis using full-length primary sequences (instead of only the catalytic domains) [13]. The NPR/ Hal kinases play important roles in signaling pathways associated with the yeast response to nutrient availability and environmental stress but are often overlooked in the scientific literature. The objective of this review article was to update, integrate and

consolidate the information available to date regarding the NPR/ Hal family of kinases in *S. cerevisiae* and, when available, in other yeast species of biotechnological or clinical relevance. These protein kinases' biological roles and regulation in diverse environmental conditions are reviewed, and data from genome-wide analyses are explored.

2. The NPR/Hal family of kinases

The NPR/Hal family of kinases comprises nine fungal-specific kinases whose functions are mainly associated with the regulation of the stability of nutrient transporters at the plasma membrane and the maintenance of ion homeostasis [13–15]. Yeast adaptation to diverse and ever-changing environments relies on the proper sensing, transport and utilization of nutrients, as well as the efficient regulation of the intracellular levels of metabolites and ions [16]. Nutrient minerals, found as charged ions in the extracellular environment, are also essential to create and sustain electrochemical gradients across the plasma membrane to drive nutrient transport, protein structure and function, and activating signaling pathways [17]. Despite the importance of the NPR/Hal kinases in yeast cells' growth and development pathways, many of these kinases' regulating mechanisms, signaling pathways, and functions are largely unknown or poorly characterized. There are many modalities of kinase regulation: some kinases have constitutive activity (unregulated), while many are regulated in a complex manner, involving more than one regulation mechanism [18]. The most common regulation mechanism of kinase activity is the phosphorylation of its activation loop. The activation loop is a motif containing one or more conserved phosphorylatable residues that, upon phosphorylation, cause a conformational change within the kinase resulting in its activation [19]. Inspection of the activation loop of the NPR/Hal kinases reveals that they do not contain a conserved phosphorylatable residue, indicating that this mechanism of regulation is unlikely to occur. The regulation mechanism of these kinases is probably based on phosphorylation outside the activation loop, which can either activate or inactivate protein function. Indeed, Npr1, the most studied kinase from the family, is regulated in a complex manner involving inactivation through phosphorylation outside the activation loop, being dephosphorylation an activation mechanism [20,21]. Given the high conservation of the catalytic domains among the nine NPR/Hal kinases, their regulation mechanisms might be similar and likely suggest functional relationships [22]. Phylogenetic clustering of the NPR/Hal kinases protein sequences from S. cerevisiae is shown in Fig. 1, evidencing three major clusters: Ptk1 and Ptk2; Hal5, Hal4 and Kkq8; Npr1, Prr2, Hrk1 and Rtk1. Since most of the NPR/Hal kinases are functionally uncharacterized, a collection of phenotypes resulting from the deletion of each of these kinases in S. cerevisiae cells exposed to a wide variety of chemical compounds and environmental conditions is presented in Table 1.

As described below, members of each cluster tend to display similar functions or belong to the same signaling pathways. The following sections give a detailed description of the information gathered from the literature for each of the NPR/Hal kinases under analysis.

2.1. NPR1 (YNL183C) plays a pleiotropic role in the regulation of nutrient transporters

The Npr1 (nitrogen permease reactivator 1) protein kinase is the most well functionally characterized kinase from the NPR/Hal family of kinases. The predicted Npr1 consensus sequence (obtained with synthetic peptides) is (K/R)-X-X-S-(K/R) [25]. Npr1



Fig. 1. NPR/Hal kinase family members phylogenetic clustering. A multiple sequence alignment of the Npr/Hal kinases complete amino acid sequences from S. *cerevisiae* S288c (retrieved from NCBI https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/) was performed using MAFFT [23], followed by phylogenetic inference by maximum likelihood using IQ-Tree [24]. Protein kinase domains (Pkinase) are colored blue. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

appears to have a requirement for a basic residue at the P-3 position and a substantial favoring for basic P + 1 residues, while a proline at the position P+1 is disadvantageous [25]. Npr1 displays pleiotropic roles; however, it is best characterized and first described as a regulator of the sorting and stabilization of several amino acid and ammonium permeases at the plasma membrane [20,26–28]. The modulation of the activity of plasma membrane proteins is essential for proper yeast response to nutrient fluctuations. Yeast growth and proliferation are dependent on the availability of nitrogen sources. S. cerevisiae is able to grow in a variety of nitrogen sources and discriminates between preferred or non-preferred sources [29]. In the presence of preferred nitrogen sources (ammonia, glutamate, glutamine), yeast activate the nitrogen catabolite repression (NCR) pathway, resulting in the repression of the expression of genes responsible for the use of nonpreferred sources (proline, urea, allantoin, gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA)) [29]. The regulation of nitrogen metabolism is the result of the interplay of different complex regulatory pathways, which mainly include the Ssy1-Ptr3-Ssy5 (SPS) sensor system, the target of rapamycin (TOR) pathway, NCR, and the general amino acid control (GAAC) pathway (reviewed by [30]). The sensing of nitrogen sources is made through the SPS sensor system (extracellular amino acid sensing) and the TOR pathway (intracellular amino acid sensing) [30].

The Npr1 kinase is integrated into the TORC1-Sit4-Npr1 signaling pathway, which controls nutrient plasma membrane transporters' stability, trafficking and endocytosis. The phospho-regulation within this pathway is complex, and many aspects remain to be elucidated. The current model for the TORC1-Sit4-Npr1 pathway states that in the presence of preferred nitrogen sources, the TOR complex 1 (TORC1) is activated by the Pib2 and Gtr proteins and the Sit4 phosphatase is bound to Tap42, forming a complex, which impedes Sit4 from dephosphorylating Npr1 [31]. Therefore, Npr1 is found in its hyperphosphorylated state and presumed to be largely inactive. Under these conditions, the ammonium transport through Mep1 and Mep3 is inhibited by Par32 (Amu1), which is found dephosphorylated [32]. Contrastingly, under nitrogen limiting conditions or upon cells exposure to rapamycin, TORC1 is inactive, leading to the Ptc1- Tip41-mediated activation of Sit4 by dissociation from Tap42, effectively reducing the phosphorylation levels of Npr1 and rendering it active [21,33]. Activation of Npr1 results in the phosphorylation of α -arrestins (selective protein trafficking adaptors), such as Bul1/Bul2, Art1 and Aly2, causing their association with 14-3-3 proteins (in the case of Bul1/Bul2) or inhibiting the recruitment of the Rsp5 ubiquitin ligase (in the case of Art1), thereby impairing their endocytic function, and in turn leading to the stabilization of plasma membrane amino acid permeases (AAPs) [34–38]. Under these conditions, Npr1 further enhances the stabilization of the general AAP Gap1 through direct phosphorylation of the proteins Orm1 and Orm2 (mediators of sphingolipid homeostasis), which in turn promote the *de novo* synthesis of complex sphingolipids [39–41]. Npr1 also inactivates Par32 through phosphorylation, keeping the ammonium transporters Mep1 and Mep3 active, and directly phosphorylates the transporter Mep2, thereby leading to its activation [32,42]. The inhibition of Par32 activity leads to increased intracellular ammonium levels preventing the reactivation of TORC1 [43].

The activity of Npr1 is regulated through phosphorylation in a complex manner [22]. Npr1 phosphorylation occurs in different degrees depending on the environmental conditions: in nitrogen limiting conditions, it is almost completely dephosphorylated; in rapamycin-induced TORC1 inhibition conditions, it displays intermediate phosphorylation; and in nitrogen-rich conditions, it is hyperphosphorylated by TORC1 [21,37]. Npr1 is also described to be autophosphorylated (at the residues Ser47, Ser257, and Ser357). However, this autophosphorylation seems to occur independently of the quality of the nitrogen source and has no regulatory effect [22,44]. Expansion of the aforementioned model extends Npr1 and Sit4 regulatory activities upon some targets (such as α arrestins) even in conditions where TORC1 is active (where both Sit4 and Npr1 are presumably inactive) [37]. Npr1 and Sit4 presumably work as counterbalancing effectors of their targets' phosphorylation levels, while Sit4 negatively regulates the activity of Npr1. This observation is derived from the demonstrated ability of Npr1 to mediate the phosphorylation of selective targets (Mep2, Aly2) despite being in a hyperphosphorylated state in cells not expressing the Sit4 phosphatase [37,42]. While Npr1 is mainly inactive during TORC1 activation, Sit4 may dephosphorylate select α -arrestins, thereby stabilising specific AAPs at the plasma membrane and inducing the endocytosis of general AAPs. Furthermore, Npr1 can reduce TORC1 activity [45]. This negative regulation was recently found to be through the Npr1-mediated phosphorylation of Pib2 upon non-preferred nitrogen source supplementation, and even possibly under conditions where Npr1 activation is intermediate, creating a regulatory feedback loop [31,46].

The Npr1 kinase was also implicated in the transition to filamentous growth and suggested to have a role in the pheromoneresponse pathway in *S. cerevisiae* [47,48]. Contrarily to its paralogue *PRR2* (see Section 2.2), both overexpression and gene deletion of *NPR1* result in the exhibition of a filamentous growth phenotype [49–52]. The requirement of Npr1 for filamentous growth was shown to be exerted through the control of the ammo-

Table 1

5701

Summary of NPR/Hal kinases deletion mutants phenotypes. Information collected from genetic screeens based on *S. cerevisiae* deletion mutant cells for each of the NPR/Hal kinases exposed to diverse compounds and conditions. S is used when the deletion mutant strain displays sensitivity to the respective compound/condition compared to the parental strain, while R is used for resistance. Non-detected (ND) or non-tested (NT) phenotypes are also indicated.

Type of stress/drug or cellular	Compound/Condition					Kinase				
component/process affected		HAL5	HRK1	KKQ8	NPR1	PRR2	PTK1	PTK2	RTK1	SAT4
Actin	Latrunculin	S [60]	ND	S [60]	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	S [60]
	Wiskostatin	S [60]	S [60]	ND	S [60]	ND	ND	S [60]	S [60]	S [60]
Alcohol stress	Ethanol	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [152,153]	ND	ND
Alkaline pH	pH 8.0	S [59,91]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [59,90,91]	ND	ND
Anti-bacterial	Acriflavinium Hydrochloride	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	S [60]	ND	ND	ND
Anti-fungal	NaD1	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	R [154]	R [154]	ND
-	Thiabendazole	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [60]
Anti-metabolite	5-Fluorouracil	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	S [60]	S [60]	ND	S [60]
	Methotrexate	S [60]	ND	S [60]	ND	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	S [60]
Anti-neoplastic	1.3-Diallvlurea	ND	S [60]	S [60]	ND	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	ND
	Actinomycin d	ND	ND	ND	S [59]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
	Amsacrine	S [60]	ND	ND	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [60]
	Indirubin	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	ND	ND
	Methoxsalen	ND	ND	S [60]	ND	ND	ND		ND	ND
Anti-ovidant	Allyl disulfide	ND	ND		S [60]	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	ND
/mti-oxidunt		ND	ND	ND		ND	ND	ND	S [60]	ND
	Potassium disulfito	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	ND
Colonourin function		ND	ND	ND		ND	ND	ND		S [CO]
	FK500	ND		ND		ND	ND		ND	
inhibition	Zymocm	ND	5 [83]	ND	ND	ND	ND	K [83]	ND	ND
Cell wall	Calcofluor white	S [155]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
	Chloroquine	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [156]
	HM-I (kiler toxin)	NT	ND	NT	NT	ND	NT	S [157]	ND	ND
	K28 (killer toxin)	NT	ND	NT	NT	ND	NT	S [157]	ND	ND
	KI (killer toxin)	NT	ND	NT	NT	ND	NT	S [157]	ND	ND
	Papulacandin	NT	ND	NT	NT	ND	NT	R [157]	ND	ND
DNA damaging	Bleomycin	S [60]	R [158]	ND	S [60]	ND	ND	R [87]	ND	S [60]
	Carboplatin	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
	Chlorambucil	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [60]
	Cisplatin	S [60]	ND	ND	S [60]	ND	S [60]	ND	ND	S [60]
	Doxorubicin	S [59,159]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
	Hydroxyurea	ND	ND	S [60]	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	S [60]
	Melphalan	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [60]
	Mechlorethamine	S [60]	S [60]	ND	ND	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	S [60]
	Mitomycin c	ND	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
	MMS	S [160]	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
	Oxaliplatin	S [59.60]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	ND	S [60]
	Streptozotocin	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	ND	ND
Endonlasmatic reticulum	Dithiothreitol	ND	S [161]	R [161]	ND	ND	ND	ND	R [161]	ND
Fatty acid elongation	Cerulenin	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [162]	ND
Ionophore	Calcium ionophore	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [162]	ND	ND		ND
ionophore	Nigericin	ND	ND	ND	ND		S [162]	ND	ND	ND
	Valinomusin	ND	ND	ND	S [162]	ND	S [102]	ND	ND	ND
Linid modifying	Lovastatin	S [60]	S [60]	ND	S [60]			ND	S [60]	S [60]
Mombrano biogenesis/	Amphotoricin b			ND	S [00]			S [60 162]		S [00]
intogrity	Clotrimazola				3 [UU] ND			3 [00,102]		5 [00] 5 [60]
miegrity	Ciourimazole	5 [00]		5 [60]						5 [U0] 5 [C0]
	wiconazole	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	K [163]	ND	5 [60]	ND	S [60]
	Nystatin	ND	S [60]	S [60]	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [60]
Microtubules	Benomyl	ND	ND	ND	S [162]	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	ND
	Nocodazole	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	ND	ND

(continued on next page)

Table 1	(continued)	
---------	-------------	--

Type of stress/drug or cellular	Compound/Condition					Kinase				
component/process affected		HAL5	HRK1	KKQ8	NPR1	PRR2	PTK1	PTK2	RTK1	SAT4
Multiple stresses	Desiccation	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [164]	ND	ND
	Synthetic must	S [165]	ND	ND	R [165]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
	WSH inhibitory compounds	ND	S [166]	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [166]	ND	ND
Nutrient limitation	Zinc deficiency	ND	ND	ND	S [167]	ND	ND	R [167]	ND	S [167]
Oxidative stress	Berberine chloride	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [60]
	Cadmium chloride	ND	S [60]	ND	ND	S [60]	ND	S [60]	S [60]	ND
	Cobalt chloride	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	S [60]
	Cobalt sulfate	R [168]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	R [168]
	Copper sulfate	S [60,168]	ND	ND	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [60,16
	Diamide	S [168]	S [161]	R [161]	ND	ND	S [169]/ R [161]	ND	ND	S [168]
	Ferric sulfate	S [168]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [168]
	Ferrous sulfate	R [168]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	R [168]
	Hydrogen peroxide	S [160]/ R [168]	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [170,60]	S [60]	R [168]
	Linoleic acid 13-hydroperoxide	S [169]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [169]
	Menadione	ND	ND	ND	S [169]	ND	S [169]	ND	ND	ND
	Mpp+	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [60]
	Nickel sulfate	S [168]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
	Nitric oxide	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	S [60]
	Paraguat	S [60,161]	ND	R [161]	R [161]	ND	R [161]	R [87,161]	ND	S [60.16
	Potassium dichromate	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	S [60]
	Sodium arsenite	ND	S [60]	ND	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	ND
	Sodium fluoride	ND	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	S [60]	S [60]	ND
	Zinc sulfate	S [168]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [168]
Phosphatase inhihitor	Calvculin A	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	ND
i nospitutuse initisteor	Cantharidin	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	ND	S [60]
	Norcantharidin		ND	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	S [60]	ND	S [60]
	Ptn2	S [60]	ND	ND	S [60]	ND	ND	S [60]	S [60]	S [60]
Phosphatidylinositol kinase signaling	Wortmannin	ND	S [162]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
PKC inhibitor	Staurosporine	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
Pol II inhibitor (Chelator)	Phenantroline	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [162]	ND
Proteasome	Aclacinomycin a	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [60]
	Canavanine	ND	ND	ND	R [171]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
Protracted fermentation	High-sugar medium	ND	S [172]	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [172]	ND	ND
Ribosome function	Neomycin sulfate	S [162]	S [162]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [162]
Sphigolipid biosynthesis	Myriocin	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	ND	ND
TOR signaling	Dieldrin	ND	R [173]	ND	S [173]	ND	ND	S [173]	ND	S [173]
Tok signaling	Ranamycin	S [60]	S [60]	ND	R [174 20]	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [60]
Toxic cation	Aluminium	R [168]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	R [81]	ND	R [168]
Toxic cution	Calcium chloride	S [168]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [157]	ND	ND
	Dysprosium	R [175]	S [175]	ND	ND	ND	ND		ND	ND
	Frhium		S [175]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
	Furopium	R [175]	S [175]	R [175]	ND	R [175]	S [175]	R [175]	ND	R [175]
	Cadolinium		S [175]		ND	ND			ND	
	Hygromycin B	S [15,59,60, 155,82,162]	R [15,82,83]	ND	ND	ND	ND	R [15,14, 82–84]	R [15,82]	S [15,59 60.82.16
	Holmium	R [175]	ND	ND	R [175]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
	Lithium chloride	S [60,82]	R [82]	ND	S [60]	S [60]	ND	R [85,14, 86 82 841	S [60]/ R [82]	S [60,82

Table 1 (continued)										
Type of stress/drug or cellular	Compound/Condition					Kinase				
		HAL5	HRK1	KKQ8	NPR1	PRR2	PTK1	PTK2	RTK1	SAT4
	Lutetium	ND	S [175]	ND	S [175]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ΟN
	Manganese chloride	S [60]	ND	S [60]	S [60]	ND	ND	R [14]	S [60]	S [60]/ P [168
	Mercury chloride	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	ND	
	Putrescine	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	R [87]	ND	ND
	Spermidine	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	R [87]	ND	ND
	Spermine	S [15]	R [15]	ND	ND	ND	ND	R [15,87,85]	R [15]	S [15]
	Tetramethylammonium	S [15]	R [15]	ND	ND	ND	ND	R [15,14]	R [15]	S [15]
	Thulium	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	R [175]	ND	S [175]	ND
	Zinc chloride	S [60]	ND	S [60]	S [60]	ND	ND	ND	S [60]	S [60]
Toxic cation/Osmotic stress	Sodium chloride	S [59,60,82,	S [60,161]/	S [60]	S [59,60,	S [60]	ND	R [85,14,	R [82]	S [59,6
		153,91,161]	R [82]		153,91]			86,82]		153,91
Tyrosine kinase and HSP90 inhibitor	Radicicol	DN	ND	ΟN	ND	DN	S [162]	ND	DN	ND
Weak acid stress	Acetic acid	R [176]	S [97,96]	DN	R [176]	R [176]	R [176]	S [14,97]/ R [176]	DN	ND
	Citric acid	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	S [177]	ND	ND
	Formic acid	R [98]	S [98]	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	R [98]
	Mycophenolic acid	ND	S [60]	ND	S [60]	ND	ND	S [60]	S [60]	ND

),82 161

M. Antunes and I. Sá-Correia

nium transporter Mep2 activity [47,53]. In cells lacking NPR1, Mep2 localizes to the plasma membrane and is properly expressed; however, it is not able to transport ammonium [47]. Mep2 is an ammonium sensor essential for filamentous growth in conditions of low extracellular ammonium and independent of the available nitrogen source quality [47,54,55]. In the mating pheromone response case, Npr1 was shown to be dephosphorylated after pheromone treatment, or upon the deletion of SAP155 (encoding a protein that forms a complex with the Sit4 phosphatase) [48]. In addition, Par32, also belonging to the TORC1-Sit4-Npr1 pathway, displays increased phosphorylation levels in this condition [48]. The TORC1-Sit4-Npr1 pathway is also linked to the regulation of intracellular potassium levels (see Section 2.5). Npr1 was shown to have low activity (is hyperphosphorylated) in potassium-limiting conditions or in *hal4\Deltahal5\Delta* mutant cells while acting as a multicopy suppressor of the $hal4\Delta hal5\Delta$ phenotypes [56]. Inhibition of the Npr1 activity increases α -arrestinsmediated endocytosis of nutrient transporters in $hal4\Delta hal5\Delta$ cells [56]. Moreover, the TORC1-responsive transcription factor Gln3, presumably regulated by Npr1, was reported to localize in the cytoplasm (thereby being inactive) in $hal4\Delta hal5\Delta$ cells, whose intracellular potassium levels are low (favoring TORC1 activation and Npr1 inactivation) [57,58]. The regulation of the osmotic stress response is another process in which Npr1 is presumably involved through phosphorylation of Rho5, which is consistent with the salt stress sensitivity of $npr1\Delta$ deletion mutant cells (Table 1) [44,59– 61]. Rho5 is a Rho-type GTPase implicated in the cell wall integrity signaling pathway and response to oxidative stress, which interacts with Ste50 leading to the activation of the osmotic stressresponsive HOG MAPK pathway [44].

In the fungal pathogen Candida albicans, the transition from budding yeast morphology to filamentous growth is also induced in response to the low availability of nitrogen sources. C. albicans Npr1 (CaNpr1 (orf19.6232)) inactivation confers resistance to rapamycin, suggesting that this kinase activity, identically to S. cerevisiae, is controlled by TOR [62]. C. albicans has two ammonium permeases, CaMep1 and CaMep2. Similarly to S. cerevisiae. CaMep2, but not CaMep1, is required for filamentous growth induction [62,63]. The dependency on Npr1 of the ammonium permeases in C. albicans differs from S. cerevisiae. In S. cerevisiae, neither ammonium permeases (Mep1-3) can support growth in the absence of Npr1, whereas in C. albicans only CaMep2 transport activity appears to be significantly impaired in the absence of CaNpr1. Curiously, the dependence of CaMep2 on CaNpr1 is abolished when the cultivation temperature is increased to 37 °C, indicating that such temperature increase alone can induce a conformational change in CaMep2 permissive for transport [53,62]. In the nitrate-assimilatory yeast Hansenula polymorpha, the sole nitrate transporter Ynt1 activity is controlled by phosphorylation in an Npr1-dependent manner in conditions of nitrogen limitation [64]. Ynt1 phosphorylation mediated by the H. polymorpha Npr1 (HpNpr1) prevents its sorting to the vacuole. HpNPR1 disruption, identically to S. cerevisiae, leads to reduced growth in ammonium medium [64].

2.2. PRR2 (YDL214C), an inhibitor of the pheromone-response pathway

The Prr2 (Pheromone Response Regulator 2) kinase was first identified as an inhibitor of pheromone-induced signaling in the *S. cerevisiae* mating pathway [65,66]. Overexpression of the *PRR2* kinase was shown to inhibit pheromone-dependent transcriptional induction [65]. Several mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signal transduction pathways have been characterized in *S. cerevisiae* [67]. The best described MAPK pathway modulates the mating of haploid cells. In haploid *S. cerevisiae* cells mating is induced by pheromone sensing, resulting in the fusion of two cells of

opposite mating types (reviewed in [68]). Most elements of the mating pheromone response are also required for filamentous growth, which is observed when S. cerevisiae cells grow on a semisolid medium with limited nutrients. In haploid cells, this filamentous growth is often termed invasive growth, whereas, in diploids, it is termed pseudohyphal growth and is induced by the lack of a fermentable carbon source or by nitrogen limitation conditions [69]. The functional mechanism of Prr2 was inferred using a Prr2 kinase-inactive version (Prr2-KD) by demonstrating that Prr2-KD still led to signaling inhibition but in a less potent way than in its wild-type counterpart [65]. This observation suggested that Prr2 may act through two different mechanisms: enhanced phosphorylation (inhibition of a pathway element through phosphorylation) and competitive binding (binding to the regulatory subunit of a substrate protein, effectively reducing its phosphorylation and activity) [65]. Moreover, Prr2 was suggested to be a downstream effector of the Fus3 pheromone module (MAPK pathway), responsible for regulation of cell-cell fusion in response to pheromone signaling [65]. This conclusion was based on the inability of the PRR2 overexpression or Prr2-KD to affect the pheromone-induced feedback phosphorylation of Ste7 [65]. Overexpression of PRR2 inhibits transcriptional induction resultant from STE12 overexpression, suggesting that Prr2 might act in conjunction with Ste12 through direct or indirect modulation of its activity [65]. Ste12 was shown to directly bind PRR2's promotor in S. cerevisiae cells grown in synthetic low-ammonium dextrose (SLAD) medium (filamentous growth-inducing) [70]. The exact mechanism of action, as well as Prr2 targets and upstream regulators, remain elusive. Like PRR2, its paralogue NPR1 (see Section 2.1) has also been implicated in the filamentous growth pathway [49-51,71,72]. PRR2 and NPR1 were identified as targets of the transcription factors Sut1, Sut2, Upc2, and Ecm22 [66,71,73]. The zinc cluster transcription factors Sut1, Sut2, Upc2 and Ecm22, initially implicated in the regulation of sterol uptake under anaerobic conditions, have key regulatory roles in filamentation and mating (reviewed in [74]). Briefly, in filamentous growth conditions, Ecm22 and Upc2 are both inducers, whereas Sut1 and Sut2 are inhibitors by partially repressing their targets in nutrient-replete conditions [71,73]. In nutrient-limiting conditions, Ste12 becomes active and consequently downregulates the expression of Sut1 and Sut2, resulting in the induction of Sut1/Sut2 targets, including UPC2, which in turn upregulates its targets [71]. In mating, Sut1 and Sut2 are positive regulators through inhibition of the expression of their targets, such as *PRR2* [66]. Ecm22 and Upc2 also seem to play a role in mating regulation through a mechanism independent of PRR2 expression modulation [72]. Based on the gathered information, a model integrating Prr2 and Npr1 in the pheromoneresponse and filamentous growth signaling pathways was assembled and is depicted in Fig. 2.

Despite being an inhibitor of the pheromone-induced signaling pathway and playing a role in filamentation, the deletion of *PRR2* does not originate any phenotype in either condition; only *PRR2* overexpression does [65,71]. One of the possibilities is that the presence of *NPR1*, which displays similar expression patterns and overlapping functions with *PRR2* in the transition to filamentous growth, can compensate for the loss of *PRR2* [71,75]. Another possibility would be regulation by Prr2 of both the positive and negative components from the mating or filamentous growth signaling pathways [65].

2.3. PTK1 (YKL198C) and PTK2 (YJR059W) are regulators of polyamine uptake

The paralogues *PTK1* and *PTK2* were first identified through genetic screens as positive regulators of membrane polyamine transport in *S. cerevisiae* [76,77]. Polyamines (putrescine, sper-



Fig. 2. Npr1 and Prr2 roles in the pheromone-response and filamentous growth pathways. Model depicting the functional integration of Prr2 and Npr1 into the pheromone-response and filamentous growth signaling pathways. Transcriptional and post-translational regulations are indicated by activating (green) or inhibitory (red) arrows. Kinases are highlighted in pink and transcription factors in blue. P designates phosphorylation. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

midine and spermine) are polycations that interact with negatively charged molecules such as DNA, RNA and proteins. They are essential for maintaining cell growth, survival and macromolecular biosynthesis in yeasts [78]. In *S. cerevisiae*, the intracellular levels of polyamines are strictly regulated; low levels are insufficient to maintain cell growth, while high levels are cytotoxic [79]. The regulation of polyamine levels is exerted through biosynthesis, degradation and transport. In S.cerevisiae, the polyamine transport system comprises five genes, TPO1-5, encoding polyamine excretion proteins and five genes, GAP1, AGP2, UGA4, DUR3, and SAM3, encoding polyamine uptake proteins [80]. Ptk2 is described as a regulator of polyamines' uptake through phosphorylation of the polyamine transporter Dur3 [80]. Moreover, abrogation of PTK2 expression leads to increased tolerance of the cells to toxic cations, such as lithium, sodium, manganese, aluminium, and Hygromycin B, in addition to polyamines (Table 1) [14,15,81–87]. Contrarily to PTK2, which is a crucial determinant of high-affinity polyamine uptake, *PTK1* is expressed at shallow levels, and only appears to affect low-affinity, low-capacity polyamine uptake [86]. It was suggested that the minor effects observed resulting from PTK1 deletion on polyamine uptake might be masked by the activity of Ptk2 [86]. Indeed, there may be regulatory interplays between both encoding genes since the transcript levels of PTK1 increased upon PTK2 disruption [86]. Nevertheless, PTK1 remains largely unexplored and uncharacterized.

The uptake of polyamines and several cations in *S. cerevisiae* is energy-dependent. The transmembrane proton gradient generated

at the plasma membrane by the proton plasma membrane ATPase (H⁺-ATPase) Pma1 is essential for secondary transport of nutrients, regulation of intracellular pH, and uptake and extrusion of different ions, such as polyamines and toxic cations [88]. The activity of Pma1 is highly affected by PTK2 expression; overexpression of PTK2 significantly increases glucose-induced Pma1 activity, whereas its deletion significantly decreases Pma1 activity [14,84,85]. The modulation of Pma1 activity through Ptk2 indicates that polyamine and ion transport is affected by alterations in the plasma membrane electrochemical potential [85]. Ptk2 was shown to be localized at the plasma membrane and regulate Pma1 activity during glucose activation through phosphorylation of Pma1-Ser899, which causes a decrease in the H^+ -ATPase K_m (or, in other words, an increase in affinity for ATP) [89]. This observation is based on the phenotype displayed by the PTK2 deletion mutant strain (defective in H⁺-ATPase activation through glucosedependent K_m decrease) and in vitro and in vivo phosphorylation assays [14,82,89]. Altogether, Ptk2 appears to be involved in both direct (through Dun3) and indirect (through Pma1) regulation of polyamine transport.

In line with the aforementioned roles, Ptk2 has also been implicated in the adaptation to alkaline stress conditions, which are known to affect plasma membrane proton gradient [90]. Deletion of *PTK2* leads to high sensitivity towards alkaline conditions (pH 8.0) (Table 1) [59,60,91]. Adaptation and resistance to alkaline stress depend on Pma1 as a major regulator of plasma membrane potential and intracellular pH [90]. Alkaline stress induces the expression of *PTK2* [92], which is directly controlled by the transcription factor Pho4, responsible for the activation of the *PHO* genes in response to inorganic phosphate (Pi) starvation [90,93].

In the pathogenic yeast *C. albicans*, Ptk2 was described as a potential target of CaSky2 [94]. CaSky2 and CaSky1 are protein kinases homologous to the *S. cerevisiae* kinase Sky1, which is an essential factor in the regulation of polyamine transport, in addition to Ptk2, and a regulator of the Trk1/Trk2 potassium transport system [85,95]. CaSky1 presumably functions similarly to Sky1 since its deletion results in resistance to salt stress and toxic polyamine concentrations [94]. On the other hand, CaSky2 is functionally different from CaSky1, being described as playing a role in dipeptide utilization [94].

2.4. HRK1 (YOR267C), a determinant of tolerance to short-chain weak acids-induced stress

Hrk1 is a 759-residue polypeptide whose first biological role attributed was the activation of *S. cerevisiae* yeast plasma membrane H⁺-ATPase (Pma1); however, this Hrk1-mediated activation occurs at a much lesser extent than the Ptk2-mediated activation (see Section 2.3) [14,84]. Phosphoproteomic analyses, including the Hrk1 kinase, indicate that it primarily regulates plasma membrane transporter proteins and proteins implicated in carbohydrate metabolism [75,96]. One of the most remarkable phenotypes associated with the *HRK1* gene is the conferred tolerance in *S. cerevisiae* to short-chain weak acids, such as acetic acid and formic acid; its deletion results in hypersensitivity to acetic acid or formic acid stress (Table 1) [97,98]. Moreover, *HRK1* expression is activated in yeast cells exposed to acetic acid stress [99].

Acetic acid is an important inhibitory compound present in lignocellulosic hydrolysates used as feedstock in advanced biorefineries and a byproduct of alcoholic fermentation. It is also a widely used preservative in foods and beverages. Knowledge of the mechanisms underlying yeast tolerance to this weak acid is therefore important to guide the development of robust industrial strains or preservation practices in the Food Industry (reviewed by [100]). In response to acetic acid stress, *HRK1* transcription is regulated by the transcription factor Haa1, the main player controlling the expression levels of 80% of the genes involved in the acetic acid response in *S. cerevisiae* [99]. The regulation of *HRK1* expression by Haa1 is yet to be demonstrated to be direct or indirect; however, based on the reported Haa1 binding motif (Haa1-responsive element (HRE)) [101], and making use of the YEASTRACT database [102], three HREs are found at the *HRK1* promoter.

The effect of HRK1 expression in S. cerevisiae plasma membrane phosphoproteome profile was investigated during the early response of yeast cells suddenly exposed to acetic acid stress [96]. Hrk1 was shown to mediate the phosphorylation levels of 40% of membrane-associated acetic acid-responsive proteins [96]. One important mechanism of tolerance to weak acids is the remodelling of the cell wall, and plasma membrane [103-106]. Increasing the synthesis of sphingolipids has been proposed to enhance the tolerance to acetic acid in S. cerevisiae based on the observed increase in sphingolipids in this yeast species upon acetic acid stress [107]. In conditions of sphingolipid synthesis inhibition (30 min or 90 min exposure to myriocin), Hrk1 has significantly altered phosphorylation levels [108], suggesting a possible role of this kinase in sphingolipid regulatory mechanisms, even though no significant changes in the levels of sphingolipids could be observed in $hrk1\Delta$ mutant cells either in the absence or presence of acetic acid stress [96]. The lipid composition of $hrk1\Delta$ deletion mutant cells displayed increased levels of dihydroceramide in the absence or presence of acetic acid stress when compared to the parental strain and significantly decreased levels of phosphatidylinositol and phosphatidylcholine in $hrk1\Delta$ deletion mutant cells exposed to acetic acid stress [96]. Furthermore, the TORC2mediated phosphorylation of Ypk1 and Ypk2 and Ypk1-mediated Orm1 were not perturbed in $hrk1\Delta$ mutant cells under acetic acid stress; indicating that Hrk1 is likely, not involved in the activation of TOR complex 2 (TORC2) or Ypk1 from the sphingolipid biosynthetic pathway under acetic acid stress conditions [103]. The expression levels of HRK1 were also reported to increase significantly upon exposure to high temperatures [109,110]. In fact, Hsf1, a transcription factor described as the master regulator of heat shock response, binds to the HRK1 promoter of yeast cells under basal conditions (30 °C) [111], following acute heat shock (30 °C to 39 °C for 5 min or 20 min) [111–113], or when chronically exposed to thermal stress (30 °C to 39 °C for 120 min) [112].

Curiously, *HRK1* contains a microsatellite locus that is commonly used for the estimation of levels of genetic variability within populations due to its high degree of polymorphism; YOR267C contains a poly CAA (encoding Gln) motif of variable length [114]. This motif is located outside the protein kinase domain in the region between residues 634 and 647 and is hypervariable among *S. cerevisiae* strains (additional information about microsatellites can be found in [115]).

In non-Saccharomyces yeasts, *HRK1* was also described as a determinant of tolerance to weak acid stress. In *Zygosaccharomyces bailii/parabailii*, two remarkably acetic acid-tolerant yeast species, the homologous *HRK1* gene – *ZbHRK1* (ZBIST_0481) – displays significantly lower mRNA levels in cells not expressing the *ZbHAA1* (*ZBIST_2620*) transcription factor [116]. ZbHaa1 is a functional homologue of ScHaa1 and is required for adaptive response and tolerance to both acetic acid and copper stresses [116,117] (re-

viewed by [100,118]). Unlike ZbHaa1, in *S. cerevisiae* ScHaa1 is not bifunctional and only controls the adaptive response to acetic acid, whereas the response to elevated copper concentrations is exerted through the transcription factor ScCup2 [116].

In the methylotrophic yeast species Komagataella phaffii (for-Pichia pastoris), the HRK1 orthologue PpHRK1 merlv (PAS_chr3_1091) was identified in a screening for kinases conferring resistance to acetic acid using a K. phaffii kinase deletion library [119]. Deletion of PpHRK1 resulted in impairment of the cell growth upon exposure to acetic acid. On the other hand, its overexpression resulted in an improved acetate metabolism, a productivity improvement compared to the parental strain of 55% of acetyl-CoA-dependent 6-methylsalicylic acid (6-MSA) in a yeast culture with 30 mM acetate [119]. However, PpHRK1 did not seem to be involved in the activation of PpPma1, and the molecular mechanism of Hrk1-mediated signal transduction in K. phaffii remains unclear [119].

In the pathogenic yeast *C. albicans*, deletion of *CaHRK1* (orf19.5408) results in increased resistance to LiCl and spermine, suggesting it might be a potential target of CaSky1 (see Section 2.3) [94]. A transcriptomic analysis study of the pathogenic yeast *Candida glabrata* during the early response to acetic acid stress revealed that the orthologue of *HRK1* in *C. glabrata*, CgHrk1 (*CAGLOC02893g*), displayed increased expression levels upon exposure to acetic acid stress [120]. Furthermore, a decrease of more than 50% of its expression levels was observed in *Cghaa1*Δ cells under acetic acid stress compared to the parental strain, suggesting that *CgHRK1* activity is also modulated by the transcription factor CgHaa1 (*CAGLOL09339g*) [120]. This transcription factor is an essential determinant of *C. glabrata* tolerance and response to acetic acid stress, and an orthologue of *S. cerevisiae* Haa1 transcription factor [120].

HRK1 and *HAL4* (see Section 2.5) were identified as genetic determinants of lipid accumulation in the oleaginous yeast *Rhodo-torula toruloides* through fitness analysis of deletion mutants [121]. This yeast species can produce lipids and carotenoids from diverse carbon sources, including xylose, and displays relatively high tolerance to inhibitory compounds present in lignocellulosic hydrolysates, making it an attractive host for the production of biotechnological relevant compounds [122].

2.5. HAL5 (YJL165C) and HAL4 (YCR008W) stabilize several cation and nutrient plasma membrane transporters

The partially redundant kinases Hal5 and Hal4 (alias Sat4) were first identified through a genetic screen to confer tolerance to inhibitory concentrations of NaCl and LiCl upon overexpression, but not to osmotic stress in media with high concentrations of KCl or sorbitol [123]. Deletion of either HAL5 or HAL4 leads to salt sensitivity (Table 1), which is enhanced in the $hal4\Delta hal5\Delta$ double mutant [82,123]. These kinases were therefore described as key determinants of ion homeostasis and salt tolerance. S. cerevisiae makes use of complex homeostatic pathways for the modulation of cellular ion homeostasis, which are essential to ensure the correct function of several cellular systems. In yeast, potassium (K⁺) is the major intracellular cation, retained intracellularly at high concentrations. In contrast, the intracellular accumulation of other monovalent cations such as sodium (Na⁺) or lithium (Li⁺) must be kept low due to their toxicity [123]. Potassium is required for essential physiological functions, including the regulation of cell volume and maintenance of plasma membrane electrochemical

potential and intracellular pH [124]. At the yeast plasma membrane, the alkali metal cation transport systems comprise the potassium uptake transporters Trk1 and Trk2, the potassium channel Tok1, the K⁺-Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter Nha1, and the Ena Na⁺-ATPases efflux systems [125]. The tolerance mechanism of Hal4 and Hal5 to salt stress results from the modulation of cation uptake through the Trk1 and Trk2 potassium transporters and independently from the Ena Na⁺-ATPases activity [123]. The regulation exerted by Hal5 and Hal4 is a result of the stabilization of Trk1 at the plasma membrane: the double mutant strain $hal4\Delta hal5\Delta$ displays a rapid degradation of the Trk1 transporter in limiting potassium conditions, and overexpression of HAL5 leads to Trk1 accumulation at the plasma membrane [126,127]. Overexpression of HAL5 was also described to suppress lithium-sensitive mutations of genes involved in sporulation and meiosis, in the biosynthesis of ergosterol, in the Rho1 signaling to the actin cytoskeleton, and in the Hal3/Ppz1/Calcineurin pathway [128]. The transcription regulation of HAL5 gene expression, and consequently the control of Trk1 activity in the cell, was shown to be induced in response to salt stress and alkaline pH conditions in a calcineurin/Crz1dependent manner [124,129,130]. Moreover, HAL4 (IPF11548) expression was also found to be activated by calcium in a calcineurin/Crz1-dependent manner in the pathogenic yeast C. albicans [131]. Calcineurin is a Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent phosphatase that modulates the activity of the transcription factor Crz1 and is activated under specific conditions, including exposure to high concentrations of Ca²⁺ or Na⁺, high temperatures or prolonged incubation with α -factor [129]. Furthermore, both Hal4 and Hal5 are determinants of susceptibility to formic acid (Table 1), possibly acting through the stabilization of the Trk1 transporter [98].

Besides Trk1, Hal4 and Hal5 are also presumably responsible for the stabilization of different nutrient transporters at the plasma membrane (some of them regulated by the ART-Rsp5 pathway), such as amino acid permeases (Can1, Fur4, Mup1, and Gap1), and glucose permeases (Hxt1), some of them dependent on the intracellular potassium levels [13,126], but the underlying molecular mechanism remains unclear. In fact, the $hal4\Delta hal5\Delta$ mutant displays a constitutive activation of the GCN pathway and decreased uptake of amino acids, and glucose [127]. This double mutant also has an altered metabolic state toward respiration [127]. Interestingly, a small fraction of the Hal4 protein was described to localize to the mitochondria, while Hal4 protein is mainly cytosolic [132-134]. Although deletion of HAL4 does not significantly affect mitochondrial functions or mitochondrial proteome, its overexpression does lead to impaired growth on non-fermentable carbon sources and significant changes in the mitochondrial proteome; its regulatory role was proposed to involve the regulation of late steps of the maturation of mitochondrial iron-sulfur cluster proteins [132]. Hal5 was found to be a nutrient-responsive kinase that localizes to the plasma membrane depending on the availability of specific nutrients such as amino acids [13]. Excess concentration of certain amino acids in the media reduces Hal5 localization to the plasma membrane in a TORC1-independent manner (increasing the Hal5 cytosolic pool), while exposure to stress-inducing salt concentrations has the opposite effect. Furthermore, the N-terminal region (upstream of the kinase domain) was shown to be essential for the recruitment of Hal5 to the plasma membrane and regulation of endocytosis [13]. HAL5 overexpression suppresses the lithium sensitivity phenotype displayed by S. cerevisiae cells deleted for genes encoding proteins involved in the vacuolar targeting of nutrient-permeases [128,135]. This is consistent with the role attributed to Hal5 in sorting and stabilization of nutrient transporters at the plasma membrane.

2.6. RTK1 (YDL025C) and KKQ8 (YKL168C) remain largely uncharacterized

Information concerning the protein kinase Rtk1 is very limited. Rtk1 may play a role in the peroxisomal biogenesis process since deletion of *RTK1* leads to fewer and enlarged peroxisomes; however, the derived morphological defects did not affect peroxisome functionality [136]. Deleting of either *RTK1* or *PTK2* (see Section 2.3) results in high-impact consequences in the lipidome of *S. cerevisiae*, suggesting a role in lipid homeostasis regulation. Lipid homeostasis modulation is highly dynamic and represents an essential mechanism for yeast cell adaptation to environmental challenges [137].

The protein abundance and phosphorylation levels of Rtk1 were found to be increased in yeast cells exposed to acetic acid stress [138]. In addition, overexpression of RTK1 led to enhanced acetic acid tolerance, ethanol productivity, and better fermentation performance when yeast cells were grown in a medium containing a corn stover hydrolysate-simulated inhibitory mixture [138]. Curiously, deletion of RTK1 does not cause a phenotype upon acetic acid stress [97], which likely indicates its activity is compensated by another kinase (Hog1, Hrk1, and Ptk2 are possible candidates). Indeed, a yeast two-hybrid assay revealed that Hog1 – known to play a role in acetic acid stress tolerance [97,139–141] – interacts with Rtk1 in vivo, suggesting that these kinases might belong to the same signaling pathway in response to acetic acid stress [138]. RTK1 overexpressing strain response to other stresses was also tested: exposure to salt stress (NaCl) did not significantly affect its growth, whereas growth upon exposure to hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) was significantly improved compared to the wild-type counterpart [138]. These results are in agreement with the phenotypes displayed by strains deleted for RTK1 exposed to oxidative stress or toxic cations (Table 1). Deletion of RTK1 renders the cell resistant to toxic cations such as Hygromycin B, spermine, tetramethylammonium, lithium chloride, and sodium chloride and sensitive to oxidative stressinducing compounds such as H2O2, potassium dichromate, cadmium chloride, sodium fluoride, and sodium arsenate. [15,60,82,142]. Moreover, *RTK1* expression is significantly increased in cells exposed to a combination of citrinin and ochratoxin A and in response to selenide stress, which mainly trigger a response to oxidative stress [143,144]. Yap1, a transcription factor essential for oxidative stress response and tolerance, was also described to bind the RTK1 gene promoter in vivo [144]. Altogether, this data suggests involvement of Rtk1 in the yeast cell response to oxidative stress.

The Kkq8 kinase is the most uncharacterized kinase from the NPR/Hal family. Phylogenetically, it is the closest kinase to Hal5; however, it does not seem to function in a similar manner. Contrarily to HAL5, overexpression of KKQ8 does not confer salt tolerance [123]. Deletion of KKQ8 was described to render *S. cerevisiae* cells sensitive to anti-fungals such as clotrimazole and nystatin (Table 1) [60]. Additionally, the absence of KKQ8 suppresses the plasma

membrane localization of the drug efflux transporters Pdr5 and Yor1, which are under the control of the transcription factors Pdr1/3, in cells treated with the anti-fungal and PDR substrate atorvastatin [145].

3. Concluding remarks

This review article compiles the currently available information on the NPR/Hal kinases, including their integration into signaling pathways responsive to environmental changes. It also makes use of data obtained by high-throughput analyses, whose main goal was not to examine specifically those kinases. Although a significant amount of information was put together, much remains to be uncovered and explored. The study of protein kinases is not straightforward. Most of the experimental evidence regarding their regulation targets is provident from genome-wide analyses, such as phosphoproteomic analysis, in vitro protein chip analysis, and quantitative genetic interaction mapping. Despite uncovering possible phosphorylation targets, phosphoproteomic analyses do not offer information regarding the functional and biological relevance of the uncovered phosphorylation sites. Furthermore, studies focused on specific kinases often overlook relevant connections and crosstalk beyond the different kinases and the involved signaling pathways.

The fungal-specific kinases from the NPR/Hal family have key roles in regulating nutrient transport and ion homeostasis. These kinases display several overlapping and complementary functions. The most prominent examples of function overlap are the kinase paralogue pairs Npr1/Prr2 and Ptk2/Ptk1. Npr1 and Prr2 both have roles in the pheromone-response and filamentous growth pathways (see Sections 2.1 and 2.2), whereas Ptk1 and Ptk2 regulate polyamine uptake (see Section 2.3). Additionally, the kinase pair Hal4 and Hal5, although not paralogues, are partially redundant in regulating plasma membrane transporters' stabilization and potassium homeostasis (see Section 2.5). Hrk1, despite having a higher similarity to Rtk1, Npr1 and Prr2, appears to function more similarly to the Ptk2 kinase (see Section 2.4). The remaining kinases, Rtk1 and Kkq8, remain functionally uncharacterized and unexplored (see Section 2.6). The majority of NPR/Hal kinases appear to function in a coordinated manner in regulating plasma membrane nutrient transporters and ion homeostasis in S. cerevisiae. As an example, alterations in potassium availability or regulation of its uptake have influence on the modulation mechanisms of phosphate uptake and metabolism [146,147]. Perturbations in the potassium uptake lead to the hyperactivation of Pma1 and affect the phosphate metabolism by triggering a response similar to phosphate starvation [146]. The activation of PTK2 transcription by the transcription factor Pho4 (active in phosphate-limiting and alkaline pH conditions) in these conditions might have a role in the increased activity levels displayed by Pma1. Furthermore, the TORC1-Sit4-Npr1 pathway (described in Section 2.1) activity is also linked with intracellular potassium levels. The observation was based on the hypersensibility displayed by the $hal4\Delta hal5\Delta$ and $trk1\Delta trk2\Delta$ mutants to rapamycin and the Trk1/2-independent decreased potassium accumulation resultant from TORC1 inhibition [56,148]. A model displaying currently known complex regulation mechanisms of the NPR/Hal kinases is shown in Fig. 3.



Fig. 3. Model of NPR/Hal kinases mechanisms of regulation. Schematic model displaying a simplified version of the known molecular mechanisms and signaling pathways underlying NPR/Hal kinases regulation of cellular processes in *S. cerevisiae*. Kinases are represented in orange, phosphatases in gray, α -arrestins in pink, and transcription factors in red. Regulations are indicated by activating (green) or inhibitory (red), and when relevant proteins are marked as "Active" or "Inactive". P designates phosphorylation and Ub ubiquitylation. AAP stands for amino acid permease. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

Knowledge of the mechanisms of regulation of these kinases, their phosphorylation targets, and involvement and organization in signaling pathways in yeast is valuable in understanding the processes underlying ion homeostasis maintenance and regulation of intracellular pH and plasma membrane nutrient transporters. Some applications include the identification of potential targets for genome manipulation to generate more robust yeast species for producing high-value metabolites with high tolerance capacity to stresses occurring during industrial bioprocesses. The characteristics of the NPR/Hal kinases in pathogenic yeast species also make them attractive candidates as therapeutic targets. Protein kinases play essential roles in the regulation of the pathogenicity of Candida species. A recent in silico study identified the protein kinases Npr1 and Ptk2 as potential drug targets and tools to discover new lead compounds to fight fungal infections, such as candidiasis [149]. Npr1 and Ptk2 were selected due to their key roles in the mechanisms regulating Candida spp. pathogenicity, their fungal specificity, and lack of human homologues [62,63,149–151]. More in-depth molecular and cellular studies are fundamental to better understand the overlooked role of the NPR/Hal kinases in the regulation of cellular processes in yeasts with impact in biological knowledge and in biotechnological and clinical applications.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Miguel Antunes: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing, Visualization. **Isabel Sá-Correia:** Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing, Supervision, Project administration.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgments

Work in the laboratory of IS-C is supported by 'Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia' (FCT) through project 2022.01501.PTDC "Mechanistic insights into adaptation and increased robustness to acetic acid and other weak acids toxicity in yeasts" and a Ph.D. fellowship to MA (FCT PhD Programme BIOTECnico-Biotechnology and Biosciences; PD/BD/142944/2018). Funding received from FCT by iBB-Institute for Bioengineering and Biosciences (UIDB/04565/2020 and UIDP/04565/2020) and by i4HB (LA/P/0140/2020), is also acknowledged.

References

- Ptacek J, Devgan G, Michaud G, Zhu H, Zhu X, Fasolo J, et al. Global analysis of protein phosphorylation in yeast. Nature 2005;438(7068):679–84. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1038/nature04187</u>.
- [2] Lin S, Wang C, Zhou J, Shi Y, Ruan C, Tu Y, et al. EPSD: a well-annotated data resource of protein phosphorylation sites in eukaryotes. Briefings Bioinformatics 2021;22(1):298–307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/bib/bbz169</u>.
- [3] Ficarro SB, McCleland ML, Stukenberg PT, Burke DJ, Ross MM, Shabanowitz J, et al. Phosphoproteome analysis by mass spectrometry and its application to Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Nat Biotechnol 2002;20(3):301–5. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nbt0302-301</u>.
- [4] Ptacek J, Snyder M. Charging it up: global analysis of protein phosphorylation. Trends Genet 2006;22(10):545–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2006.08.005</u>.
- [5] Fraschini R, Raspelli E, Cassani C. Protein phosphorylation is an important tool to change the fate of key players in the control of cell cycle progression in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Protein Phosphorylation Human Health 2012:377–94. <u>https://doi.org/10.5772/47809</u>.
- [6] Oliveira AP, Sauer U. The importance of post-translational modifications in regulating Saccharomyces cerevisiae metabolism. FEMS Yeast Res 2012;12 (2):104–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1567-1364.2011.00765.x</u>.
- [7] Zolnierowicz S, Bollen M. Protein phosphorylation and protein phosphatases de panne, belgium, september 19–24, 1999. EMBO J 2000;19(4):483–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/19.4.483.
- [8] Mann M, Ong S-E, Grønborg M, Steen H, Jensen ON, Pandey A. Analysis of protein phosphorylation using mass spectrometry: deciphering the phosphoproteome. Trends Biotechnol 2002;20(6):261–8. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0167-7799(02)01944-3</u>.
- [9] Miranda-Saavedra D, Barton GJ. Classification and functional annotation of eukaryotic protein kinases. Proteins: Struct Function Bioinformatics 2007;68 (4):893–914. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/prot.21444</u>.
- [10] Martin DM, Miranda-Saavedra D, Barton GJ. Kinomer v. 1.0: a database of systematically classified eukaryotic protein kinases. Nucl Acids Res 2009;37 (suppl_1):D244–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkn834</u>.
- [11] Brinkworth RI, Munn AL, Kobe B. Protein kinases associated with the yeast phosphoproteome. BMC Bioinformatics 2006;7(1):1–16. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1471-2105-7-47.</u>
- [12] Hunter T, Plowman GD. The protein kinases of budding yeast: six score and more. Trends Biochem Sci 1997;22(1):18–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0968-0004(96)10068-2</u>.
- [13] Tumolo JM, Hepowit NL, Joshi SS, MacGurn JA. A snf1-related nutrientresponsive kinase antagonizes endocytosis in yeast. PLoS Genet 2020;16(3): . <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1008677</u>e1008677.
- [14] Goossens A, de la Fuente N, Forment J, Serrano R, Portillo F. Regulation of yeast H⁺-ATPase by protein kinases belonging to a family dedicated to activation of plasma membrane transporters. Mol Cell Biol 2000;20 (20):7654–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.20.20.7654-7661.2000</u>.
- [15] Barreto L, Canadell D, Petrezsélyová S, Navarrete C, Marešová L, Peréz-Valle J, et al. A genomewide screen for tolerance to cationic drugs reveals genes important for potassium homeostasis in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Eukaryotic cell 2011;10(9):1241–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/EC.05029-11</u>.
- [16] Smets B, Ghillebert R, De Snijder P, Binda M, Swinnen E, De Virgilio C, et al. Life in the midst of scarcity: adaptations to nutrient availability in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Curr Genet 2010;56(1):1–32. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00294-009-0287-1</u>.
- [17] Cyert MS, Philpott CC. Regulation of cation balance in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics 2013;193(3):677–713. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1534/genetics.112.147207.
- [18] Rubenstein EM, Schmidt MC. Mechanisms regulating the protein kinases of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Eukaryotic Cell 2007;6(4):571–83. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1128/EC.00026-07.</u>
- [19] Modi V, Dunbrack Jr RL. Defining a new nomenclature for the structures of active and inactive kinases. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2019;116(14):6818–6827. doi:10.1073/pnas.1814279116.
- [20] Schmidt A, Beck T, Koller A, Kunz J, Hall MN. The TOR nutrient signalling pathway phosphorylates NPR1 and inhibits turnover of the tryptophan permease. EMBO J 1998;17(23):6924–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/ 17.23.6924</u>.
- [21] Jacinto E, Guo B, Arndt KT, Schmelzle T, Hall MN. TIP41 interacts with TAP42 and negatively regulates the TOR signaling pathway. Mol Cell 2001;8 (5):1017–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(01)00386-0</u>.
- [22] Gander S, Bonenfant D, Altermatt P, Martin DE, Hauri S, Moes S, Hall MN, Jenoe P. Identification of the rapamycin-sensitive phosphorylation sites within the Ser/Thr-rich domain of the yeast Npr1 protein kinase. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom 2008;22(23):3743–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ rcm.3790.</u>
- [23] Katoh K, Standley DM. MAFFT multiple sequence alignment software version 7: improvements in performance and usability. Mol Biol Evol 2013;30 (4):772-80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/mst010</u>.
- [24] Minh BQ, Schmidt HA, Chernomor O, Schrempf D, Woodhams MD, Von Haeseler A, et al. IQ-TREE 2: new models and efficient methods for

phylogenetic inference in the genomic era. Mol Biol Evol 2020;37 (5):1530-4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msaa015</u>.

- [25] Gander S, Martin D, Hauri S, Moes S, Poletto G, Pagano MA, Marin O, Meggio F, Jenoe P. A modified KESTREL search reveals a basophilic substrate consensus for the Saccharomyces cerevisiae Npr1 protein kinase. J Proteome Res 2009;8 (11):5305–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/pr9005469</u>.
- [26] Vandenbol M, Jauniaux J-C, Grenson M. The Saccharomyces cerevisiae NPR1 gene required for the activity of ammonia-sensitive amino acid permeases encodes a protein kinase homologue. Mol General Genet 1990;222(2):393–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00633845.
- [27] De Craene J-O, Soetens O, André B. The Npr1 kinase controls biosynthetic and endocytic sorting of the yeast Gap1 permease. J Biol Chem 2001;276 (47):43939-48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M102944200</u>.
- [28] Omura F, Kodama Y. The N-terminal domain of yeast Bap2 permease is phosphorylated dependently on the Npr1 kinase in response to starvation. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2004;230(2):227–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1097(03)00918-2</u>.
- [29] Ljungdahl PO, Daignan-Fornier B. Regulation of amino acid, nucleotide, and phosphate metabolism in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics 2012;190 (3):885–929. <u>https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.111.133306</u>.
- [30] Zhang W, Du G, Zhou J, Chen J. Regulation of sensing, transportation, and catabolism of nitrogen sources in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 2018;82(1):e00040–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.00040-17</u>.
- [31] Brito AS, Diaz SS, Van Vooren P, Godard P, Marini AM, Boeckstaens M. Pib2-dependent feedback control of the TORC1 signaling network by the Npr1 kinase. Iscience 2019;20:415–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2019.09.025</u>.
- [32] Boeckstaens M, Merhi A, Llinares E, Van Vooren P, Springael J-Y, Wintjens R, et al. Identification of a novel regulatory mechanism of nutrient transport controlled by TORC1-Npr1-Amu1/Par32. PLoS Genet 2015;11(7): . <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1005382</u>e1005382.
- [33] González A, Ruiz A, Casamayor A, Arino J. Normal function of the yeast TOR pathway requires the type 2C protein phosphatase Ptc1. Mol Cell Biol 2009;29(10):2876–88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.01740-08</u>.
- [34] Merhi A, André B. Internal amino acids promote Gap1 permease ubiquitylation via TORC1/Npr1/14-3-3-dependent control of the Bul arrestin-like adaptors. Mol Cell Biol 2012;32(22):4510–22. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1128/mcb.00463-12.
- [35] Crapeau M, Merhi A, André B. Stress conditions promote yeast Gap1 permease ubiquitylation and down-regulation via the arrestin-like Bul and Aly proteins. J Biol Chem 2014;289(32):22103-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M114.582320</u>.
- [36] O'Donnell AF, Apffel A, Gardner RG, Cyert MS. α)arrestins Aly1 and Aly2 regulate intracellular trafficking in response to nutrient signaling. Mol Biol Cell 2010;21(20):3552–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e10-07-0636</u>.
- [37] Bowman RW, Jordahl EM, Davis S, Hedayati S, Barsouk H, Ozbaki-Yagan N, et al. TORC1 signaling controls the stability and function of α)arrestins Aly1 and Aly2. Biomolecules 2022;12(4):533. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/</u> biom12040533.
- [38] MacGurn JA, Hsu P-C, Smolka MB, Emr SD. TORC1 regulates endocytosis via Npr1-mediated phosphoinhibition of a ubiquitin ligase adaptor. Cell 2011;147(5):1104-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.cell.2011.09.054</u>.
- [39] Shimobayashi M, Oppliger W, Moes S, Jenö P, Hall MN. TORC1-regulated protein kinase Npr1 phosphorylates Orm to stimulate complex sphingolipid synthesis. Mol Biol Cell 2013;24(6):870–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e12-10-0753</u>.
- [40] Gururaj C, Federman R, Chang A. Orm proteins integrate multiple signals to maintain sphingolipid homeostasis. J Biol Chem 2013;288(28):20453–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113.472860</u>.
- [41] Lauwers E, Grossmann G, André B. Evidence for coupled biogenesis of yeast Gap1 permease and sphingolipids: essential role in transport activity and normal control by ubiquitination. Mol Biol Cell 2007;18(8):3068-80. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e07-03-0196</u>.
- [42] Boeckstaens M, Llinares E, Van Vooren P, Marini AM. The TORC1 effector kinase Npr1 fine tunes the inherent activity of the Mep2 ammonium transport protein. Nat Commun 2014;5(1):1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms4101</u>.
- [43] Varlakhanova NV, Tornabene BA, Ford MG. Feedback regulation of TORC1 by its downstream effectors Npr1 and Par32. Mol Biol Cell 2018;29 (22):2751–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E18-03-0158</u>.
- [44] Annan RB, Wu C, Waller DD, Whiteway M, Thomas DY. Rho5p is involved in mediating the osmotic stress response in Saccharomyces cerevisiae, and its activity is regulated via Msi1p and Npr1p by phosphorylation and ubiquitination. Eukaryot Cell 2008;7(9):1441–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/ EC.00120-08</u>.
- [45] Li J, Yan G, Liu S, Jiang T, Zhong M, Yuan W, et al. Target of rapamycin complex 1 and Tap42-associated phosphatases are required for sensing changes in nitrogen conditions in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Microbiol 2017;106(6):938–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mmi.13858</u>.
- [46] Hatakeyama R. Pib2 as an emerging master regulator of yeast TORC1. Biomolecules 2021;11(10):1489. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/biom11101489</u>.
- [47] Boeckstaens M, André B, Marini AM. The yeast ammonium transport protein Mep2 and its positive regulator, the Npr1 kinase, play an important role in normal and pseudohyphal growth on various nitrogen media through retrieval of excreted ammonium. Mol Microbiol 2007;64(2):534–46. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2007.05681.x.

- [48] Goranov AI, Gulati A, Dephoure N, Takahara T, Maeda T, Gygi SP, et al. Changes in cell morphology are coordinated with cell growth through the TORC1 pathway. Curr Biol 2013;23(14):1269–79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cub.2013.05.035</u>.
- [49] Shively CA, Eckwahl MJ, Dobry CJ, Mellacheruvu D, Nesvizhskii A, Kumar A. Genetic networks inducing invasive growth in Saccharomyces cerevisiae identified through systematic genome-wide overexpression. Genetics 2013;193(4):1297–310. <u>https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.112.147876</u>.
- [50] Ryan O, Shapiro RS, Kurat CF, Mayhew D, Baryshnikova A, Chin B, et al. Global gene deletion analysis exploring yeast filamentous growth. Science 2012;337 (6100):1353-6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1224339</u>.
- [51] Lorenz MC, Heitman J. The MEP2 ammonium permease regulates pseudohyphal differentiation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. EMBO J 1998;17 (5):1236–47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/17.5.1236</u>.
- [52] Shively CA, Kweon HK, Norman KL, Mellacheruvu D, Xu T, Sheidy DT, Dobry CJ, et al. Large-scale analysis of kinase signaling in yeast pseudohyphal development identifies regulation of ribonucleoprotein granules. PLoS Genet 2015;11(10): <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1005564</u>e1005564.
- [53] Brito AS, Neuhäuser B, Wintjens R, Marini AM, Boeckstaens M. Yeast filamentation signaling is connected to a specific substrate translocation mechanism of the Mep2 transceptor. PLoS Genet 2020;16(2): <u>https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1008634</u>e1008634.
- [54] Rutherford JC, Chua G, Hughes T, Cardenas ME, Heitman J. A Mep2-dependent transcriptional profile links permease function to gene expression during pseudohyphal growth in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Biol Cell 2008;19 (7):3028–39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e08-01-0033</u>.
- [55] Van Nuland A, Vandormael P, Donaton M, Alenquer M, Lourenço A, Quintino E, et al. Ammonium permease-based sensing mechanism for rapid ammonium activation of the protein kinase A pathway in yeast. Mol Microbiol 2006;59(5):1485-505. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2005.05043.x.</u>
- [56] Primo C, Ferri-Blázquez A, Loewith R, Yenush L. Reciprocal regulation of target of rapamycin complex 1 and potassium accumulation. J Biol Chem 2017;292(2):563–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M116.746982</u>.
- [57] Hirasaki M, Kaneko Y, Harashima S. Protein phosphatase Siw14 controls intracellular localization of Gln3 in cooperation with Npr1 kinase in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Gene 2008;409(1-2):34–43. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.gene.2007.11.005</u>.
- [58] Hirasaki M, Horiguchi M, Numamoto M, Sugiyama M, Kaneko Y, Nogi Y, et al. Saccharomyces cerevisiae protein phosphatase Ppz1 and protein kinases Sat4 and Hal5 are involved in the control of subcellular localization of Gln3 by likely regulating its phosphorylation state. J Biosci Bioeng 2011;111 (3):249–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/i.jbiosc.2010.11.013.
- [59] Brown JA, Sherlock G, Myers CL, Burrows NM, Deng C, Wu HI, et al. Global analysis of gene function in yeast by quantitative phenotypic profiling. Mol Syst Biol 2006;2(1):2006–0001. doi:10.1038/msb4100043.
- [60] Hillenmeyer ME, Fung E, Wildenhain J, Pierce SE, Hoon S, Lee W, et al. The chemical genomic portrait of yeast: uncovering a phenotype for all genes. Science 2008;320(5874):362–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1150021</u>.
- [61] Yoshikawa K, Tanaka T, Ida Y, Furusawa C, Hirasawa T, Shimizu H. Comprehensive phenotypic analysis of single-gene deletion and overexpression strains of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Yeast 2011;28 (5):349–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/yea.1843</u>.
- [62] Neuhäuser B, Dunkel N, Satheesh SV, Morschhäuser J. Role of the Npr1 kinase in ammonium transport and signaling by the ammonium permease Mep2 in Candida albicans. Eukaryotic cell 2011;10(3):332–42. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1128/EC.00293-10</u>.
- [63] Biswas K, Morschhäuser J. The Mep2p ammonium permease controls nitrogen starvation-induced filamentous growth in Candida albicans. Mol Microbiol 2005;56(3):649–69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2005.04576.x.</u>
- [64] Navarro FJ, Martín Y, Siverio JM. Phosphorylation of the yeast nitrate transporter Ynt1 is essential for delivery to the plasma membrane during nitrogen limitation. J Biol Chem 2008;283(45):31208–17. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1074/ibc.M802170200</u>.
- [65] Burchett SA, Scott A, Errede B, Dohlman HG. Identification of novel pheromone-response regulators through systematic overexpression of 120 protein kinases in yeast. J Biol Chem 2001;276(28):26472–8. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1074/ibc.M103436200</u>.
- [66] Blanda C, Höfken T. Regulation of mating in the budding yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae by the zinc cluster proteins Sut1 and Sut2. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2013;438(1):66–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.07.027</u>.
- [67] González-Rubio G, Fernández-Acero T, Martín H, Molina M. Mitogenactivated protein kinase phosphatases (MKPs) in fungal signaling: conservation, function, and regulation. Int J Mol Sci 2019;20(7):1709. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20071709.
- [68] Bardwell L. A walk-through of the yeast mating pheromone response pathway. Peptides 2005;26(2):339–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2004.10.002</u>.
- [69] Cullen PJ, Sprague Jr GF. The regulation of filamentous growth in yeast. Genetics 2012;190(1):23–49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.111. 127456.</u>
- [70] Lefrançois P, Euskirchen GM, Auerbach RK, Rozowsky J, Gibson T, Yellman CM, et al. Efficient yeast ChIP-Seq using multiplex short-read DNA sequencing. BMC genomics 2009;10(1):1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-10-37</u>.

- [71] Woods K, Höfken T. The zinc cluster proteins Upc2 and Ecm22 promote filamentation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae by sterol biosynthesis-dependent and -independent pathways. Mol Microbiol 2016;99(3):512–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nmni.13244</u>.
- [72] Höfken T. Ecm22 and Upc2 regulate yeast mating through control of expression of the mating genes PRM1 and PRM4. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2017;493(4):1485–90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.10.005</u>.
- [73] Foster HA, Cui M, Naveenathayalan A, Unden H, Schwanbeck R, Höfken T. The zinc cluster protein Sut1 contributes to filamentation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Eukaryot Cell 2013;12(2):244–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/ EC.00214-12</u>.
- [74] Joshua IM, Höfken T. From lipid homeostasis to differentiation: old and new functions of the zinc cluster proteins Ecm22, Upc2, Sut1 and Sut 2. Int J Mol Sci 2017;18(4):772. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18040772</u>.
- [75] Li J, Paulo JA, Nusinow DP, Huttlin EL, Gygi SP. Investigation of proteomic and phosphoproteomic responses to signaling network perturbations reveals functional pathway organizations in yeast. Cell Rep 2019;29(7):2092–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2019.10.034.
- [76] Kakinuma Y, Maruyama T, Nozaki T, Wada Y, Ohsumi Y, Igarashi K. Cloning of the gene encoding a putative serine/threonine protein kinase which enhances spermine uptake in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1995;216(3):985–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1995.2717</u>.
- [77] Nozaki T, Nishimura K, Michael AJ, Maruyama T, Kakinuma Y, Igarashi K. A second gene encoding a putative serine/threonine protein kinase which enhances spermine uptake in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1996;228(2):452–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1996.1681</u>.
- [78] Gevrekci AÖ. The roles of polyamines in microorganisms. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 2017;33(11):1–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-017-2370-y</u>.
- [79] Rocha RO, Wilson RA. Essential, deadly, enigmatic: Polyamine metabolism and roles in fungal cells. Fungal Biol Rev 2019;33(1):47–57. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.fbr.2018.07.003</u>.
- [80] Uemura T, Kashiwagi K, Igarashi K. Polyamine uptake by DUR3 and SAM3 in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Biol Chem 2007;282(10):7733–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M611105200</u>.
- [81] Kakimoto M, Kobayashi A, Fukuda R, Ono Y, Ohta A, Yoshimura E. Genomewide screening of aluminum tolerance in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Biometals 2005;18(5):467–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10534-006-0009-9</u>.
- [82] Mazón MJ, Eraso P, Portillo F. Specific phosphoantibodies reveal two phosphorylation sites in yeast Pma1 in response to glucose. FEMS Yeast Res 2015;15(5):fov030. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/femsyr/fov030</u>.
- [83] Mehlgarten C, Schaffrath R. After chitin docking, toxicity of kluyveromyces lactis zymocin requires Saccharomyces cerevisiae plasma membrane H*-ATPase. Cell Microbiol 2004;6(6):569–80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-5822.2004.00383.x</u>.
- [84] Pereira RR, Castanheira D, Teixeira JA, Bouillet LE, Ribeiro EM, Trópia MM, et al. Detailed search for protein kinase(s) involved in plasma membrane H⁺-ATPase activity regulation of yeast cells. FEMS Yeast Res 2015;15(2):fov003. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/femsyr/fov003</u>.
- [85] Erez O, Kahana C. Screening for modulators of spermine tolerance identifies Sky1, the SR protein kinase of Saccharomyces cerevisiae, as a regulator of polyamine transport and ion homeostasis. Mol Cell Biol 2001;21(1):175–84. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.21.1.175-184.2001.
- [86] Kaouass M, Audette M, Ramotar D, Verma S, De Montigny D, Gamache I, et al. The STK2 gene, which encodes a putative ser/thr protein kinase, is required for high-affinity spermidine transport in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Cell Biol 1997;17(6):2994–3004. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.17.6.2994</u>.
- [87] Aouida M, Page N, Leduc A, Peter M, Ramotar D. A genome-wide screen in Saccharomyces cerevisiae reveals altered transport as a mechanism of resistance to the anticancer drug bleomycin. Cancer Res 2004;64 (3):1102–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-2729</u>.
- [88] Canadell D, Ariño J. Interactions between monovalent cations and nutrient homeostasis. Yeast Membrane Transport 2016:271–89. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-319-25304-6 11.</u>
- [89] Eraso P, Mazón MJ, Portillo F. Yeast protein kinase Ptk2 localizes at the plasma membrane and phosphorylates in vitro the C-terminal peptide of the H⁺-ATPase. Biochim Biophys Acta 2006;1758(2):164–70. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bbamem.2006.01.010</u>.
- [90] Nishizawa M, Tanigawa M, Hayashi M, Maeda T, Yazaki Y, Saeki Y, Toh-e A. Pho85 kinase, a cyclin-dependent kinase, regulates nuclear accumulation of the Rim101 transcription factor in the stress response of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Eukaryot Cell 2010;9(6):943–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/ EC.00247-09</u>.
- [91] Giaever G, Chu AM, Ni L, Connelly C, Riles L, Véronneau S, et al. Functional profiling of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae genome. Nature 2002;418 (6896):387–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature00935</u>.
- [92] Viladevall L, Serrano R, Ruiz A, Domenech G, Giraldo J, Barceló A, et al. Characterization of the calcium-mediated response to alkaline stress in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Biol Chem 2004;279(42):43614–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/ibc.M403606200</u>.
- [93] Nishizawa M, Komai T, Katou Y, Shirahige K, Ito T, Toh-e A. Nutrientregulated antisense and intragenic RNAs modulate a signal transduction pathway in yeast. PLoS Biol 2008;6(12): <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0060326</u>e326.
- [94] Brandt P, Gerwien F, Wagner L, Krüger T, Ramírez-Zavala B, Mirhakkak MH. Candida albicans SR-like protein kinases regulate different cellular processes: Sky1 is involved in control of ion homeostasis, while Sky2 is important for

dipeptide utilization. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2022:461. doi:10.3389/fcimb.2022.850531.

- [95] Forment J, Mulet JM, Vicente O, Serrano R. The yeast SR protein kinase Sky1p modulates salt tolerance, membrane potential and the Trk 1, 2 potassium transporter. Biochim Biophys Acta 2002;1565(1):36–40. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0005-2736(02)00503-5</u>.
- [96] Guerreiro JF, Mira NP, Santos AX, Riezman H, Sá-Correia I. Membrane phosphoproteomics of yeast early response to acetic acid: role of Hrk1 kinase and lipid biosynthetic pathways, in particular sphingolipids. Front Microbiol 2017;8:1302. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01302</u>.
- [97] Mira NP, Palma M, Guerreiro JF, Sá-Correia I. Genome-wide identification of Saccharomyces cerevisiae genes required for tolerance to acetic acid. Microbial Cell Factories 2010;9(1):1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2859-9-79</u>.
- [98] Henriques SF, Mira NP, Sá-Correia I. Genome-wide search for candidate genes for yeast robustness improvement against formic acid reveals novel susceptibility (Trk1 and positive regulators) and resistance (Haa1-regulon) determinants. Biotechnol Biofuels 2017;10(1):1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13068-017-0781-5.</u>
- [99] Mira NP, Becker JD, Sá-Correia I. Genomic expression program involving the Haa1p-regulon in Saccharomyces cerevisiae response to acetic acid. Omics: J Integr Biol 2010;14(5):587–601. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/omi.2010.0048</u>.
- [100] Palma M, Guerreiro JF, Sá-Correia I. Adaptive response and tolerance to acetic acid in Saccharomyces cerevisiae and Zygosaccharomyces bailii: a physiological genomics perspective. Front Microbiol 2018;9:274. <u>https:// doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.0027</u>.
- [101] Mira NP, Henriques SF, Keller G, Teixeira MC, Matos RG, et al. Identification of a DNA-binding site for the transcription factor Haa1, required for Saccharomyces cerevisiae response to acetic acid stress. Nucl Acids Res 2011;39(16):6896–907. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkr228</u>.
- [102] Monteiro PT, Oliveira J, Pais P, Antunes M, Palma M, Cavalheiro M, Galocha M, et al. YEASTRACT+: a portal for cross-species comparative genomics of transcription regulation in yeasts. Nucl Acids Res 2020;48(D1):D642–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkz859</u>.
- [103] Guerreiro JF, Muir A, Ramachandran S, Thorner J, Sá-Correia I. Sphingolipid biosynthesis upregulation by TOR complex 2–Ypk1 signaling during yeast adaptive response to acetic acid stress. Biochem J 2016;473(23):4311–25. https://doi.org/10.1042/BC[20160565.
- [104] Ribeiro RA, Vitorino MV, Godinho CP, Bourbon-Melo N, Robalo TT, Fernandes F, et al. Yeast adaptive response to acetic acid stress involves structural alterations and increased stiffness of the cell wall. Scientific Rep 2021;11 (1):1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-92069-3</u>.
- [105] Ribeiro RA, Bourbon-Melo N, Sá-Correia I. The cell wall and the response and tolerance to stresses of biotechnological relevance in yeasts. Front Microbiol 2022:2900. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2022.9534</u>.
- [106] Guo Z-P, Khoomrung S, Nielsen J, Olsson L. Changes in lipid metabolism convey acid tolerance in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Biotechnol Biofuels 2018;11(1):1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13068-018-1295-5</u>.
- [107] Lindberg L, Santos AX, Riezman H, Olsson L, Bettiga M. Lipidomic profiling of Saccharomyces cerevisiae and Zygosaccharomyces bailii reveals critical changes in lipid composition in response to acetic acid stress. PloS One 2013;8(9): <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0073936</u>e73936.
- [108] Fröhlich F, Olson DK, Christiano R, Farese Jr RV, Walther TC. Proteomic and phosphoproteomic analyses of yeast reveal the global cellular response to sphingolipid depletion. Proteomics 2016;16(21):2759–63. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1002/pmic.201600269</u>.
- [109] Shivaswamy S, Iyer VR. Stress-dependent dynamics of global chromatin remodeling in yeast: dual role for SWI/SNF in the heat shock stress response. Mol Cell Biol 2008;28(7):2221-34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.01659-07</u>.
- [110] Gasch AP, Spellman PT, Kao CM, Carmel-Harel O, Eisen MB, Storz G, et al. Genomic expression programs in the response of yeast cells to environmental changes. Mol Biol Cell 2000;11(12):4241–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1091/</u> mbc.11.12.4241.
- [111] Solís EJ, Pandey JP, Zheng X, Jin DX, Gupta PB, Airoldi EM, et al. Defining the essential function of yeast Hsf1 reveals a compact transcriptional program for maintaining eukaryotic proteostasis. Mol Cell 2016;63(1):60–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2016.05.014</u>.
- [112] Pincus D, Anandhakumar J, Thiru P, Guertin MJ, Erkine AM, Gross DS. Genetic and epigenetic determinants establish a continuum of Hsf1 occupancy and activity across the yeast genome. Mol Biol Cell 2018;29(26):3168–82. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E18-06-0353</u>.
- [113] Hahn J-S, Hu Z, Thiele DJ, Iyer VR. Genome-wide analysis of the biology of stress responses through heat shock transcription factor. Mol Cell Biol 2004;24(12):5249–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.24.12.5249-5256.2004</u>.
 [114] Legras J-L, Ruh O, Merdinoglu D, Karst F. Selection of hypervariable
- [114] Legras J-L, Ruh O, Merdinoglu D, Karst F. Selection of hypervariable microsatellite loci for the characterization of Saccharomyces cerevisiae strains. Int J Food Microbiol 2005;102(1):73–83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i. ijfoodmicro.2004.12.007</u>.
- [115] López-Flores I, Garrido-Ramos M. The repetitive DNA content of eukaryotic genomes. Repetitive DNA 2012;7:1–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000337118</u>.
- [116] Palma M, Dias PJ, Roque FdC, Luzia L, Guerreiro JF, Sá-Correia I The Zygosaccharomyces bailii transcription factor Haa1 is required for acetic acid and copper stress responses suggesting subfunctionalization of the ancestral bifunctional protein Haa1/Cup2. BMC Genomics 2017;18(1):1–22. doi:10.1186/s12864-016-3443-2.

- [117] Antunes M, Palma M, Sá-Correia I. Transcriptional profiling of Zygosaccharomyces bailii early response to acetic acid or copper stress mediated by ZbHaa1. Scientific Rep 2018;8(1):1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/</u> <u>s41598-018-32266-9</u>.
- [118] Palma M, Sá-Correia I. Physiological genomics of the highly weak-acidtolerant food spoilage yeasts of Zygosaccharomyces bailii sensu lato. Yeasts Biotechnol Human Health 2019:85–109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13035-0-4</u>.
- [119] Xu Q, Bai C, Liu Y, Song L, Tian L, Yan Y, et al. Modulation of acetate utilization in Komagataella phaffii by metabolic engineering of tolerance and metabolism. Biotechnol Biofuels 2019;12(1):1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13068-019-1404-0</u>.
- [120] Bernardo RT, Cunha DV, Wang C, Pereira L, Silva S, Salazar SB, et al. The CgHaa1-regulon mediates response and tolerance to acetic acid stress in the human pathogen Candida glabrata. Genes Genomes Genet 2017;7(1):1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1534/g3.116.034660</u>.
- [121] Coradetti ST, Pinel D, Geiselman GM, Ito M, Mondo SJ, Reilly MC, et al. Functional genomics of lipid metabolism in the oleaginous yeast Rhodosporidium toruloides. Elife 2018;7: <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/</u> el.ife.32110e32110.
- [122] Mota MN, Múgica P, Sá-Correia I. Exploring yeast diversity to produce lipidbased biofuels from agro-forestry and industrial organic residues. J Fungi 2022;8(7):687. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jof8070687</u>.
- [123] Mulet JM, Leube MP, Kron SJ, Rios G, Fink GR, Serrano R. A novel mechanism of ion homeostasis and salt tolerance in yeast: the Hal4 and Hal5 protein kinases modulate the Trk1-Trk2 potassium transporter. Mol Cellular Biol 1999;19(5):3328–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.19.5.3328</u>.
- [124] Casado C, Yenush L, Melero C, del Carmen Ruiz M, Serrano R, Pérez-Valle J, et al. Regulation of Trk-dependent potassium transport by the calcineurin pathway involves the Hal5 kinase. FEBS Lett 2010;584(11):2415–2420. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2010.04.042.
- [125] Ariño J, Ramos J, Sychrova H. Monovalent cation transporters at the plasma membrane in yeasts. Yeast 2019;36(4):177-93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ yea.3355</u>.
- [126] Pérez-Valle J, Jenkins H, Merchan S, Montiel V, Ramos J, Sharma S, et al. Key role for intracellular K⁺ and protein kinases Sat4/Hal4 and Hal5 in the plasma membrane stabilization of yeast nutrient transporters. Mol Cell Biol 2007;27 (16):5725–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.01375-06</u>.
- [127] Pérez-Valle J, Rothe J, Primo C, Martínez Pastor M, Ariño J, Pascual-Ahuir A, et al. Hal4 and Hal5 protein kinases are required for general control of carbon and nitrogen uptake and metabolism. Eukaryotic Cell 2010;9(12):1881– 1890. doi:10.1128/EC.00184-10.
- [128] Zhao J, Lin W, Ma X, Lu Q, Ma X, Bian G, et al. The protein kinase Hal5p is the high-copy suppressor of lithium-sensitive mutations of genes involved in the sporulation and meiosis as well as the ergosterol biosynthesis in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genomics 2010;95(5):290–8. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.yeeno.2010.02.010</u>.
- [129] Yoshimoto H, Saltsman K, Gasch AP, Li HX, Ogawa N, Botstein D, et al. Genome-wide analysis of gene expression regulated by the calcineurin/Crz1p signaling pathway in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Biol Chem 2002;277 (34):31079–88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/ibc.M202718200</u>.
- [130] Roque A, Petrezsélyová S, Serra-Cardona A, Ariño J. Genome-wide recruitment profiling of transcription factor Crz1 in response to high pH stress. BMC genomics 2016;17(1):1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-016-3006-6</u>.
- [131] Karababa M, Valentino E, Pardini G, Coste AT, Bille J, Sanglard D. CRZ1, a target of the calcineurin pathway in Candida albicans. Mol Microbiol 2006;59 (5):1429–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2005.05037.x.</u>
- [132] Gey U, Czupalla C, Hoflack B, Krause U, Rödel G. Proteomic analysis reveals a novel function of the kinase Sat4p in Saccharomyces cerevisiae mitochondria. PLoS One 2014;9(8): <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0103956</u>e103956.
- [133] Frankovsky J, Vozáriková V, Nosek J, Tomáška L. Mitochondrial protein phosphorylation in yeast revisited. Mitochondrion 2021;57:148–62. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.mito.2020.12.016</u>.
- [134] Tomaska L. Mitochondrial protein phosphorylation: lessons from yeasts. Gene 2000;255(1):59-64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1119(00)00315-2</u>.
- [135] Lauwers E, Erpapazoglou Z, Haguenauer-Tsapis R, André B. The ubiquitin code of yeast permease trafficking. Trends Cell Biol 2010;20(4):196–204. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2010.01.004</u>.
- [136] Saleem RA, Knoblach B, Mast FD, Smith JJ, Boyle J, Dobson CM, et al. Genomewide analysis of signaling networks regulating fatty acid-induced gene expression and organelle biogenesis. J Cell Biol 2008;181(2):281–92. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1083/icb.200710009</u>.
- [137] da Silveira Dos AX, Santos I, Riezman M-A, Aguilera-Romero F, David M, Piccolis R, et al. Systematic lipidomic analysis of yeast protein kinase and phosphatase mutants reveals novel insights into regulation of lipid homeostasis. Mol Biol Cell 2014;25(20):3234–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1091/</u> mbc.e14-03-0851.
- [138] Ye P-L, Wang X-Q, Yuan B, Liu C-G, Zhao X-Q. Manipulating cell flocculationassociated protein kinases in Saccharomyces cerevisiae enables improved stress tolerance and efficient cellulosic ethanol production. Bioresour Technol 2022;348: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2022.126758</u>126758.
- [139] Gutmann F, Jann C, Pereira F, Johansson A, Steinmetz LM, Patil KR. CRISPRi screens reveal genes modulating yeast growth in lignocellulose hydrolysate.

Biotechnol Biofuels 2021;14(1):1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13068-021-01880-7</u>.

- [140] Mollapour M, Piper PW. Hog1 mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphorylation targets the yeast Fps1 aquaglyceroporin for endocytosis, thereby rendering cells resistant to acetic acid. Mol Cell Biol 2007;27 (18):6446–56. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.02205-06.
- [141] Mollapour M, Piper PW. Hog1p mitogen-activated protein kinase determines acetic acid resistance in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. FEMS Yeast Res 2006;6 (8):1274-80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1567-1364.2006.00118.x.</u>
- [142] Bianchi MM, Ngo S, Vandenbol M, Sartori G, Morlupi A, Ricci C, et al. Largescale phenotypic analysis reveals identical contributions to cell functions of known and unknown yeast genes. Yeast 2001;18(15):1397–412. <u>https://doi. org/10.1002/yea.784</u>.
- [143] Vanacloig-Pedros E, Proft M, Pascual-Ahuir A. Different toxicity mechanisms for citrinin and ochratoxin A revealed by transcriptomic analysis in yeast. Toxins 2016;8(10):273. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/toxins8100273</u>.
- [144] Salin H, Fardeau V, Piccini E, Lelandais G, Tanty V, Lemoine S, et al. Structure and properties of transcriptional networks driving selenite stress response in yeasts. BMC genomics 2008;9(1):1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-9-333</u>.
- [145] Yibmantasiri P, Bircham PW, Maass DR, Bellows DS, Atkinson PH. Networks of genes modulating the pleiotropic drug response in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol BioSyst 2014;10(1):128–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/C3MB70351G</u>.
- [146] Canadell D, González A, Casado C, Ariño J. Functional interactions between potassium and phosphate homeostasis in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Microbiol 2015;95(3):555–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mmi.12886</u>.
- [147] Teunissen JH, Crooijmans ME, Teunisse PP, van Heusden GPH. Lack of 14–3-3 proteins in Saccharomyces cerevisiae results in cell-to-cell heterogeneity in the expression of Pho4-regulated genes SPL2 and PHO84. BMC genomics 2017;18(1):1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-017-4105-8.
- [148] Mahmoud S, Planes MD, Cabedo M, Trujillo C, Rienzo A, Caballero-Molada M, et al. TOR complex 1 regulates the yeast plasma membrane proton pump and pH and potassium homeostasis. FEBS Lett 2017;591(13):1993–2002. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1002/1873-3468.12673</u>.
- [149] Das S, Bhuyan R, Goswami AM, Saha T. Kinome analyses of Candida albicans, C. parapsilosis and <hi rend="it">C. tropicalis</hi> enable novel kinases as therapeutic drug targets in candidiasis. Gene 2021;780: <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.gene.2021.145530145530</u>.
- [150] García-Sánchez S, Aubert S, Iraqui I, Janbon G, Ghigo J-M, d'Enfert C. Candida albicans biofilms: a developmental state associated with specific and stable gene expression patterns. Eukaryotic cell 2004;3(2):536–45. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1128/EC.3.2.536-545.2004</u>.
- [151] Nishikawa H, Sakagami T, Yamada E, Fukuda Y, Hayakawa H, Nomura N, et al. T-2307, a novel arylamidine, is transported into Candida albicans by a highaffinity spermine and spermidine carrier regulated by Agp2. J Antimicrob Chemother 2016;71(7):1845–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkw095</u>.
- [152] Mota MN, Martins LC, Sá-Correia I. The identification of genetic determinants of methanol tolerance in yeast suggests differences in methanol and ethanol toxicity mechanisms and candidates for improved methanol tolerance engineering. J Fungi 2021;7(2):90. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jof7020090</u>.
- [153] Yoshikawa K, Tanaka T, Furusawa C, Nagahisa K, Hirasawa T, Shimizu H. Comprehensive phenotypic analysis for identification of genes affecting growth under ethanol stress in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. FEMS Yeast Res 2009;9(1):32-44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1567-1364.2008.00456.x</u>.
- [154] Bleackley MR, Wiltshire JL, Perrine-Walker F, Vasa S, Burns RL, van der Weerden NL, et al. Agp2p, the plasma membrane transregulator of polyamine uptake, regulates the antifungal activities of the plant defensin NaD1 and other cationic peptides. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2014;58(5):2688–98. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.02087-13.
- [155] Lussier M, White A-M, Sheraton J, di Paolo T, Treadwell J, Southard SB, et al. Large scale identification of genes involved in cell surface biosynthesis and architecture in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics 1997;147(2):435–50. https://doi.org/10.1093/genetics/147.2.435.
- [156] Islahudin F, Khozoie C, Bates S, Ting K-N, Pleass RJ, Avery SV. Cell wall perturbation sensitizes fungi to the antimalarial drug chloroquine. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2013;57(8):3889–96. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1128/AAC.00478-13.
- [157] de Groot PW, Ruiz C, Vázquez de Aldana CR, Dueňas E, Cid VJ, Del Rey F, et al. A genomic approach for the identification and classification of genes involved in cell wall formation and its regulation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Compar Funct Genomics 2001;2(3):124–42. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1002/cfg.85</u>.
- [158] Zheng D-Q, Wang Y-T, Zhu Y-X, Sheng H, Li K-J, Sui Y, et al. Uncovering bleomycin-induced genomic alterations and underlying mechanisms in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Appl Environ Microbiol 2022;88(2): e01703–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01703-21</u>.

- [159] Westmoreland TJ, Wickramasekara SM, Guo AY, Selim AL, Winsor TS, Greenleaf AL, et al. Comparative genome-wide screening identifies a conserved doxorubicin repair network that is diploid specific in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. PloS one 2009;4(6): <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/</u> journal.pone.0005830e5830.
- [160] Altintaş A, Martini J, Mortensen UH, Workman CT. Quantification of oxidative stress phenotypes based on high-throughput growth profiling of protein kinase and phosphatase knockouts. FEMS Yeast Res 2016;16(1):fov101. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsyr/fov101.
- [161] Fernandez-Ricaud L, Warringer J, Ericson E, Pylvänäinen I, Kemp GJ, Nerman O, et al. Prophecy-a database for high-resolution phenomics. Nucl Acids Res 2005;33(suppl_1):D369-73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gki126</u>.
- [162] Parsons AB, Lopez A, Givoni IE, Williams DE, Gray CA, Porter J, et al. Exploring the mode-of-action of bioactive compounds by chemical-genetic profiling in yeast. Cell 2006;126(3):611–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.06.040</u>.
- [163] Vandenbosch D, De Canck E, Dhondt I, Rigole P, Nelis HJ, Coenye T. Genomewide screening for genes involved in biofilm formation and miconazole susceptibility in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. FEMS Yeast Res 2013;13(8):720-30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1567-1364.12071</u>.
- [164] Ratnakumar S, Hesketh A, Gkargkas K, Wilson M, Rash BM, Hayes A, et al. Phenomic and transcriptomic analyses reveal that autophagy plays a major role in desiccation tolerance in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol BioSyst 2011;7 (1):139–49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/COMB00114G</u>.
- [165] Novo M, Mangado A, Quirós M, Morales P, Salvadó Z, Gonzalez R. Genomewide study of the adaptation of Saccharomyces cerevisiae to the early stages of wine fermentation. PLoS One 2013;8(9): <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0074086</u>e74086.
- [166] Pereira FB, Teixeira MC, Mira NP, Sá-Correia I, Domingues L. Genome-wide screening of Saccharomyces cerevisiae genes required to foster tolerance towards industrial wheat straw hydrolysates. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 2014;41(12):1753–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10295-014-1519-z</u>.
- [167] North M, Steffen J, Loguinov AV, Zimmerman GR, Vulpe CD, Eide DJ. Genomewide functional profiling identifies genes and processes important for zinclimited growth of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. PLoS Genet 2012;8(6): . <u>https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1002699</u>e1002699.
- [168] Tun NM, O'Doherty PJ, Chen Z-H, Wu X-Y, Bailey TD, Kersaitis C, et al. Identification of aluminium transport-related genes via genome-wide phenotypic screening of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Metallomics 2014;6 (8):1558–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/c4mt00116h</u>.
- [169] Thorpe GW, Fong CS, Alic N, Higgins VJ, Dawes IW. Cells have distinct mechanisms to maintain protection against different reactive oxygen species: oxidative-stress-response genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2004;101 (17):6564–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0305888101</u>.
- [170] Higgins VJ, Alic N, Thorpe GW, Breitenbach M, Larsson V, Dawes IW. Phenotypic analysis of gene deletant strains for sensitivity to oxidative stress. Yeast 2002;19(3):203–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/yea.811</u>.
- [171] Cai H, Kauffman S, Naider F, Becker JM. Genomewide screen reveals a wide regulatory network for di/tripeptide utilization in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics 2006;172(3):1459–76. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1534/genetics.105.053041.
- [172] Walker ME, Nguyen TD, Liccioli T, Schmid F, Kalatzis N, Sundstrom JF, et al. Genome-wide identification of the fermentome; genes required for successful and timely completion of wine-like fermentation by Saccharomyces cerevisiae. BMC Genomics 2014;15(1):1–17. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1471-2164-15-552</u>.
- [173] Gaytán BD, Loguinov AV, Lantz SR, Lerot J-M, Denslow ND, Vulpe CD. Functional profiling discovers the dieldrin organochlorinated pesticide affects leucine availability in yeast. Toxicol Sci 2013;132(2):347–358. doi:10.1093/toxsci/kft018.
- [174] Huang Z, Chen K, Zhang J, Li Y, Wang H, Cui D, et al. A functional variomics tool for discovering drug-resistance genes and drug targets. Cell Rep 2013;3 (2):577–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.celrep.2013.01.019</u>.
- [175] Pallares RM, Faulkner D, An DD, Hébert S, Loguinov A, Proctor M, et al. Genome-wide toxicogenomic study of the lanthanides sheds light on the selective toxicity mechanisms associated with critical materials. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2021;118(18): <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.2025952118</u>e2025952118.
- [176] Sousa M, Duarte AM, Fernandes TR, Chaves SR, Pacheco A, Leão C, et al. Genome-wide identification of genes involved in the positive and negative regulation of acetic acid-induced programmed cell death in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. BMC Genomics 2013;14(1):1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-14-838</u>.
- [177] Lawrence CL, Botting CH, Antrobus R, Coote PJ. Evidence of a new role for the high-osmolarity glycerol mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway in yeast: regulating adaptation to citric acid stress. Mol Cell Biol 2004;24(8):3307–23. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.24.8.3307-3323.2004.